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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I call this

          3  hearing to order. I just want to remind everyone

          4  that if you're interested in testifying, please see

          5  the Sergeant-At-Arms, Ralph, and he'll accommodate

          6  you.

          7                 I'd like to begin so that I won't

          8  forget later on to thank a few people who put this

          9  hearing together for us. Andrew Serrer, Counsel to

         10  the Subcommittee, to the Public Housing; Alissa

         11  Pines, Policy Analyst; David Pechefsky, Finance

         12  Analyst; and Carl Camulucci (phonetic), my Chief of

         13  Staff. I'd like to thank them. They're responsible

         14  for making sure that this is a successful hearing,

         15  and it runs smoothly.

         16                 I'd like to thank Margarita Lopez, my

         17  colleague in the City Council, for taking the lead

         18  role in the Section 8 program and how it will affect

         19  New Yorkers and affordable housing.

         20                 Good afternoon. I am Council Member

         21  Diana Reyna, Chair of the Subcommittee on Public

         22  Housing. Today we are holding an extremely important

         23  oversight hearing on Project-Based Section 8 housing

         24  entitled, Federally Assisted Housing At Risk: An

         25  Exploration for Solutions Preserving Project-Based
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          2  Section 8 Housing in New York City.

          3                 We will hear testimony from housing

          4  advocates, residents of Section 8 housing, and the

          5  public.

          6                 As the title indicates, this hearing

          7  will be a forum to identify:

          8                 (1) why Project-Based Section 8

          9  Housing is at risk of becoming market rate housing.

         10                 (2) How the City of New York, working

         11  with the State and federal government non-profit

         12  organizations and residents can save this vital

         13  affordable housing stock.

         14                 Before continuing, I would like to

         15  mention that although the Department of Housing

         16  Preservation and Development, the New York City

         17  Housing Authority and other City agencies could not

         18  attend today's hearing. We already have scheduled a

         19  Part 2 second hearing on this topic that will be an

         20  exclusive opportunity for them to testify about

         21  Section 8. This second hearing will take place on

         22  May 25th of 2004. Their testimony on this subject is

         23  extremely important because most potential

         24  mechanisms to preserve Section 8 unit, leaving the

         25  program necessarily would involve the participation
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          2  of City agencies.

          3                 We all particularly look forward to

          4  the testimony and ideas of the new HPD Commissioner

          5  Sean Donovan, because before his current position,

          6  Commissioner Donovan oversaw the Division in the

          7  Department of Housing and Urban Development, HUD,

          8  responsible for distressed buildings in federal

          9  housing programs.

         10                 As an expert on the topic we will

         11  explore today, his views will be crucial to our

         12  discussion.

         13                 Section 8 housing is one of the core

         14  sources of housing affordable to low-income New

         15  Yorkers, available to New Yorkers who earn 80

         16  percent or less of median income. There are

         17  approximately 72,000 project-based Section 8

         18  dwelling units in New York City. These project-based

         19  Section 8 units should not be confused with

         20  tenant-based Section 8 housing vouchers that assist

         21  more than 112,000 New York households pay for

         22  housing.

         23                 While tenant-based Section 8 also is

         24  extremely important, and also may be in jeopardy due

         25  to Bush Administration policies, today's hearing
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          2  will focus on Project-Based Section 8 housing

          3  because the City may have more of an ability to

          4  preserve these units as affordable.

          5                 It is my hope that ideas raised at

          6  this hearing, and the one on May 25th, will help

          7  preserve the at-risk Section 8 unit as permanent

          8  affordable housing for New Yorkers.

          9                 Of the 72,000 Project-Based Section 8

         10  units in New York City, about 54,000 of them are

         11  at-risk of leaving the Section 8 program between now

         12  and 2009. In 2004 alone approximately 33,000 units

         13  could leave the Project-Based Section 8 program.

         14  Many contracts between building owners and HUD are

         15  due to expire, and many of the buildings are

         16  neighborhoods where increasing property values will

         17  give owners a greater return if they rent units at

         18  market rate.

         19                 If these buildings were to leave the

         20  Section 8 program without programs and resources in

         21  place, to preserve them as affordable, they would

         22  become unaffordable to low-income New Yorkers.

         23                 Further, of the 54,000 at-risk units,

         24  approximately 17,000 are in distressed buildings

         25  vulnerable to HUD for closure.
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          2                 If these buildings are foreclosed

          3  upon without programs and resources in place to keep

          4  them affordable and without a change of policy from

          5  HUD, they would be sold at auction and become market

          6  rate housing as well.

          7                 As a result, New York City is facing

          8  the loss of perhaps 54 units of affordable units --

          9  I'm sorry -- 54,000 units of affordable housing

         10  currently in the Section 8 program. With homeless

         11  counts at record highs, it is imperative that

         12  together we examine possible solutions to this

         13  problem.

         14                 I want to thank the advocates, the

         15  tenants, who are with us today. I look forward to

         16  hearing your ideas to preserve these 54,000 at-risk,

         17  project-based Section 8 housing units as permanent

         18  affordable housing for low-income New Yorkers.

         19                 If we do not save these units, the

         20  affordable housing crisis we currently are

         21  experiencing in New York could become a full-blown

         22  catastrophe.

         23                 Now I'd like to give Margarita Lopez,

         24  my colleague City Council Member Lopez, an

         25  opportunity to give a brief opening statement.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you,

          3  Council Member Reyna, and thank you for holding

          4  these hearings that are so important to the City of

          5  New York.

          6                 I just want to indicate two things,

          7  and I would like to indicate and address with two

          8  numbers.

          9                 Number one, as of May 2003 there have

         10  been 9,000 federally-subsidized housing units lost

         11  in New York City. Nine-thousand federally subsidized

         12  units of housing, as of May 2003, have been lost.

         13                 And the second thing that I want to

         14  indicate is at this moment are 17,000 units in

         15  distressed condition, and that's a condition that

         16  the federal government gives to particular units of

         17  housing, and are at risk of being foreclosed.

         18                 These two numbers that I mentioned

         19  here must be a fire alarm of the third kind to New

         20  York City, to the Mayor, to everyone in this City

         21  who understand that we are in a serious, serious

         22  housing crisis. Without Section 8, New York cannot

         23  be an inclusive City.

         24                 We will lose the capacity to house

         25  people of low and moderate-income means. We just
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          2  simply cannot afford to lose Section 8 housing. And

          3  as it is right now, when we look at the federal

          4  government and the policies that are coming from the

          5  President, it's very important for all New Yorkers

          6  to understand that the President of the United

          7  States, George Bush, at this moment, is proposing

          8  serious, very serious cuts to the budget on Section

          9  8 that will harm New York City permanently in ways

         10  that I cannot even imagine.

         11                 Therefore, this hearing is more than

         12  important. It's a necessity for us to provide and

         13  see how we can provide and protect affordable

         14  housing. Thank you, Council Member Reyna.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: You're very

         16  welcome.

         17                 I'd like to just introduce the rest

         18  of my colleagues who are present here today. To my

         19  far left, Council Member Alan Gerson of Manhattan,

         20  and next to him is Council Member Sara Gonzalez from

         21  Brooklyn. I understand that Council Member Alan

         22  Gerson has a few words briefly so that we can get

         23  started with the panel.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: The emphasis

         25  is on few and brief, but this is just a continuation
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          2  of what will be, unfortunately, a protracted but

          3  important conversation.

          4                 I just want to first of all thank my

          5  colleagues, my neighboring colleague Council Member

          6  Lopez, my sister, for taking the lead in proposing

          7  this resolution, and her constant advocacy for

          8  Section 8 and affordable housing generally, and

          9  thank you, Madam Chair, for your leadership in

         10  organizing and holding this hearing, and for your

         11  commitment to the cause of housing diversity. I

         12  assure my community presence that with my

         13  colleagues, and my colleague sitting next to me,

         14  Council Member Sara Gonzalez, we are in -- you know,

         15  our housing is in the best possible hands from the

         16  City Council.

         17                 So, I expect we'll get great things

         18  done.

         19                 Very, very, very briefly. The issue

         20  is whether or not we will have meaningful,

         21  affordable housing in this City in the future. The

         22  issue is whether or not we will treat people

         23  humanely, recognizing the people who reside in

         24  project-based Section 8 housing, and who receive

         25  section 8 vouchers, are the people who have built
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          2  and continue to sustain the City. The issue is

          3  whether we are a sufficiently humane City to

          4  recognize that a person's apartment is their home,

          5  and that a home, if we believe in the dignity of the

          6  individual, deserves special status and protection

          7  and not relegated to treatment as any other market

          8  commodity, and the issue is whether we truly believe

          9  in a City of diversity where people of all income

         10  levels, all jobs, all vocations, all lifestyles, can

         11  live in relative close proximity and share a

         12  community, and share a city and learn from it, enjoy

         13  each other's company. That's what has made this City

         14  so great, our strength is our diversity. We all say

         15  that. The Mayor and the Governor even say that. But

         16  if they really mean it, they need to work with the

         17  Council to come up with a plan to preserve existing

         18  affordable housing, including existing Section 8,

         19  project-based Section 8 housing.

         20                 In conclusion, I look forward to this

         21  hearing and to the ongoing work to hear ideas and to

         22  develop strategies. I think we have to pursue

         23  multi-tiered, multi-faceted approaches for

         24  project-based Section 8 and also for the other

         25  categories of affordable rental housing, rental
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          2  Mitchell Lamas, Article 4's, other special

          3  categories. We need to pursue the full range of

          4  approaches.

          5                 One of which I'm sure we'll hear

          6  testimony is the proposed right of first refusal,

          7  which when a project-based Section 8 or another

          8  affordable housing is set to lose its protected

          9  affordable status because the owner, after the

         10  contractual period, opts out and intends to opt out,

         11  the opportunity should be given to the community, to

         12  community organizations, to tenant associations and

         13  to the City to purchase that housing in order to

         14  maintain it as affordable.

         15                 There are many different ways of

         16  accomplishing that. Other cities have done that. We

         17  in New York need to be in the lead and not at the

         18  back of the effort to preserve this and other

         19  affordable housing. So, I look forward to moving

         20  forward with a full commitment to keep our City with

         21  its diversity and affordability intact and then

         22  expanded. Thank you very much, Madam Chair. Thank

         23  you, my colleagues.

         24                 And just one procedural note. Forgive

         25  me, I have to go back and forth. I have a hearing on
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          2  another bill scheduled exactly at the same time as

          3  this, so I'm going to be doing that dance between

          4  the Committee rooms, but I'm here 100 percent in

          5  commitment. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you, Council

          7  Member Gerson.

          8                 And lastly we will hear from Council

          9  Member Sara Gonzalez.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ: Thank you,

         11  Council Member.

         12                 First of all, I would like to thank

         13  Council Member Margarita Lopez and yourself, Diana

         14  Reyna, Councilwoman. You know, we live in a city and

         15  a nation where we embrace everyone that comes to the

         16  country and we encourage people who come,

         17  immigrants, and we need to understand that we have

         18  to step to the plate and respect housing. Everyone

         19  deserves to have adequate housing. It doesn't matter

         20  what walk of life they come from.

         21                 Not only am I here because I don't

         22  sit on this Committee, I have to be next door. But I

         23  want to say that for my district, where we have

         24  public housing, where we consider having adequate

         25  housing a need to be able to live, period. We need
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          2  to do it at this level, and I thank you,

          3  Councilwoman Lopez, as well as Reyna, for all your

          4  efforts and we need to fight together to ensure that

          5  this housing is not at-risk in the City of New York.

          6  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I'd like to thank

          8  my colleagues for making the time to appear at this

          9  hearing and we have our dynamic first panel, Dina

         10  Levy from UHAB; Anne Lessy from Tenants and

         11  Neighbors; and Ellen Davidson from the Legal Aid

         12  Society.

         13                 Now, this panel will not be on the

         14  clock, and it's for the sake of being able to listen

         15  to your testimony, your ideas, but more so to

         16  interact so that our question and answer will have

         17  the opportunity to come up with mutual concepts.

         18  Then after that, excusing that, we may have limited

         19  time for the tenants, nevertheless your testimonies

         20  are just as valuable. So, I don't want anybody to

         21  feel insulted. Thank you.

         22                 MS. LESSY: Thank you. Good afternoon.

         23  Thank you for the opportunity to testify before the

         24  Public Housing Subcommittee on this vital issue. I

         25  am Anne Lessy from Tenants and Neighbors. Testifying
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          2  with me today are Dina Levy from the Urban

          3  Homesteading Assistance Board; and Ellen Davidson of

          4  the Legal Aid Society.

          5                 New York State tenants and neighbors

          6  information service is a statewide non-profit

          7  organization dedicated to helping tenants preserve

          8  and improve their housing. We provide the residents

          9  of New York State rent-regulated Section 8 and

         10  Mitchell Lama buildings, with the educational

         11  organizing and technical assistance they need to

         12  address systemwide and specific housing concerns.

         13                 Tenants and Neighbors is a statewide

         14  group that organizes, trains and provides technical

         15  assistance to tenants and community groups seeking

         16  to preserve the affordability and decent living

         17  conditions of project-based Section 8 housing.

         18                 New York City's long-term housing

         19  crisis is a central fact of City Life. For poor and

         20  working communities in particular there is a

         21  constant strain on households to identify and attain

         22  affordable housing.

         23                 Federally subsidized project-based

         24  Section 8 housing plays an important role in

         25  protecting lower-income New Yorkers. Project-based

                                                            16

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON PUBLIC HOUSING

          2  Section 8 provides 72,000 affordable apartments to

          3  low-income tenants in New York City. These

          4  apartments are in privately-owned buildings where

          5  all eligible tenants pay 30 percent of their income

          6  and rent and the subsidy from HUD covers the rest.

          7                 Unlike Section 8 vouchers,

          8  project-based Section 8 makes the entire building

          9  affordable housing. These project-based Section 8

         10  developments are a vital resource in New York City.

         11  The Section 8 developments protect long-time

         12  residents and ensure the continued presence of

         13  affordable housing, even as neighborhoods change and

         14  rents increase. These developments are located

         15  throughout New York City and ensure diversity.

         16                 The median income of project-based

         17  Section 8 households is approximately $11,500 per

         18  year. Seniors and individuals with disabilities

         19  comprise 40 percent of the tenant population living

         20  in project-based Section 8 developments. Without

         21  serious commitment to preserving this vital housing

         22  stock, these tenants are all at risk. Today the

         23  project-based Section 8 program is in crisis,

         24  because numerous buildings are reaching the end of

         25  their original subsidy contracts with HUD.
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          2                 An estimated 44,000 units are

          3  scheduled for contract expiration in the Year 2004

          4  alone. One of the most effective existing

          5  preservation tools, the Mark-to-Market Program,

          6  provides owners with the opportunity to restructure

          7  the debt service for the property. This allows for

          8  continued building operations, as well as capital

          9  improvements, in exchange for a long-term contract

         10  at rents reduced to the appropriate market level.

         11                 Even this successful preservation

         12  resource, however, is time limited. The opportunity

         13  to participate in this preservation program is at

         14  this time scheduled to end in September of 2006.

         15                 An alternative existing program

         16  available to preserve buildings in good condition

         17  and increasingly high market areas is the

         18  Mark-Up-To-Market Program. This program ensures that

         19  responsible landlords will be compensated the fair

         20  market value in exchange for staying in the

         21  affordable housing program for five to 20 years.

         22                 Thus, landlords are compensated while

         23  income-eligible tenants continue to pay only 30

         24  percent of their income towards rent.

         25                 In the 11 years tenants and neighbors
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          2  have been working with project-based Section 8

          3  tenants to preserve their homes, we have

          4  consistently seen that strong tenant associations

          5  can make the difference in preventing landlords from

          6  leaving the subsidy program.

          7                 Technical support for tenant

          8  organizing is an important element in that equation.

          9  Our experience suggests that positive results occur

         10  when tenants and their communities are actively

         11  engaged in the process.

         12                 With people's homes at stake, clear

         13  and up-to-date information is essential. Too often

         14  tenants struggle to obtain the most basic

         15  information on their own buildings, including

         16  inspection scores and reports, the status of the

         17  project-based Section 8 contract, and whether

         18  enforcement action by the agency have plans.

         19                 Tenants continuously encounter

         20  difficulty with both HUD and contract administrators

         21  in their effort to address issues at their own

         22  homes.

         23                 Tenants do not even receive

         24  notification if there is a proposed sale of the

         25  building. Decisions are often made behind closed
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          2  doors and the families who live in the buildings are

          3  not included.

          4                 In addition, there is no systematic

          5  plan in place to educate tenants about fundamental

          6  rule changes that directly affect tenants' lives and

          7  eligibility for the Section 8 subsidy.

          8                 For various reasons, landlords

          9  continue to opt out of project-based Section 8

         10  programs. Not all properties will be eligible for

         11  contract renewal through the existing programs and

         12  the lure of the New York City real estate market

         13  remains attractive to many landlords.

         14                 New York City is fortunate in that we

         15  have a vast and diverse pool of responsible housing

         16  development organizations committed to preservation

         17  of this vital affordable housing stock.

         18                 What New York requires are additional

         19  mechanisms through which tenants and/or their

         20  development partners have the opportunity to

         21  preserve these buildings before they are deregulated

         22  and there is further erosion of affordable housing.

         23                 Local governments across the United

         24  States are intervening to protect project-based

         25  Section 8 tenants and preserve affordable
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          2  neighborhoods. Successful strategies have included

          3  providing more warning time prior to contract

          4  expiration. Right now tenants only receive one-year

          5  notification.

          6                 And giving tenants the right of first

          7  refusal so that the tenant association and/or their

          8  chosen development partner may first have the

          9  opportunity to acquire the building and preserve its

         10  affordability before the current landlord opts out

         11  of the project-based Section 8 program.

         12                 Right now the New York City Council

         13  has the opportunity to preserve affordable housing

         14  and protect project-based Section 8 tenants by

         15  passing Intro. 186.

         16                 Intro. 186, the tenant-empowerment

         17  act, would save a great deal of federally subsidized

         18  housing. Tenants or tenant-endorsed preservation

         19  housing developers would have the first opportunity

         20  to acquire buildings if the landlord chooses not to

         21  stay in the affordable housing program.

         22                 Further, this initiative would

         23  provide tenants with more notice and their buildings

         24  are at risk of converting to market rent and give

         25  tenants access to information on their building that
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          2  is required in order to develop a viable plan.

          3                 The Tenant Empowerment Act has

          4  extensive grassroot support by tenant associations

          5  and other organizations throughout New York City

          6  concerned with preserving our affordable housing

          7  stock.

          8                 This bill, coupled with the

          9  development of a preservation trust fund will make

         10  an immense impact and provide tenants with the

         11  opportunity to save their homes.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I'm sorry. Before

         14  you continue, I just want everyone to know that this

         15  hearing cannot vote on bills, and, so, the reference

         16  of Intro. 186, although we value it, cannot be

         17  something that we hear or vote on at this level of a

         18  subcommittee. It has to be heard and voted on at the

         19  full standing committee on Housing and Buildings.

         20                 So, I just wanted to make sure that

         21  everyone was clear on that.

         22                 MS. LEVY: In January of 2003, HUD's

         23  Office of Asset Management issued a directive to

         24  local HUD field offices --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Just mention your
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          2  name for the record.

          3                 MS. LEVY: Sorry. I'm Dina Levy, from

          4  the Urban Homesteading Assistance Board. Sorry.

          5                 So, in January of 2003, HUD's Office

          6  of Asset Management issued a directive to local

          7  HUD's field offices encouraging them to take

          8  aggressive enforcement action against landlords who

          9  chronically fail physical inspections.

         10                 Currently our research finds that at

         11  least 84 buildings, serving more than 17,000

         12  low-income families has failed one or more physical

         13  inspection, and 14 buildings representing more than

         14  2,000 low-income families, are currently being

         15  targeted by HUD for some type of enforcement action.

         16                 In some cases HUD is simply allowed

         17  and even encouraged delinquent landlords to prepay

         18  their HUD insured mortgages and to terminate their

         19  project-based Section 8 contracts, leaving tenants

         20  to find adequate housing elsewhere because their

         21  units cannot pass NYCHA's housing quality standard

         22  inspections.

         23                 In other cases, HUD has relied on

         24  risky public foreclosure auctions, which have

         25  attracted unscrupulous real estate speculators
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          2  willing to pay overly inflated purchase prices to

          3  acquire these buildings.

          4                 These unregulated sales have led to

          5  further divestment and deterioration of affordable

          6  housing stock. But also they have presented a burden

          7  to the City of New York, who ultimately must absorb

          8  the financial and administrative responsibility for

          9  cleaning up these costly mistakes.

         10                 Nowhere has this been more evident

         11  than at the sale of the Pueblo Dymia Apartments

         12  (phonetic) at public auction in the Bronx last July.

         13                 After HUD rejected the tenants' offer

         14  to privately finance the conversion of the building

         15  into a limited equity cooperative, tenants were

         16  instead forced to watch their buildings sold at

         17  public auction, and made a bidding war that went

         18  from $100,000 to $4.9 million within 39 seconds.

         19                 A small-time landlord with an

         20  astounding 1,400 code violations registered within

         21  the City of New York offered the winning bid.

         22                 Experts who analyzed the sale

         23  following the auction determined that the bid was at

         24  least $2 million more than the building's operating

         25  budget could support. Yet, despite these facts, HUD
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          2  allowed the sale to go through, and over the past

          3  year, tenants have watched their building services

          4  disappear and their home slowly deteriorate.

          5                 Fortunately, going forward there are

          6  a number of opportunities by which the City of New

          7  York could move to ensure that no future affordable

          8  housing is lost as a result of HUD's enforcement

          9  policies.

         10                 First, the City, as well as HUD,

         11  could use preservation friendly enforcement tools to

         12  force these delinquent landlords to sell their

         13  buildings, including receiverships, 7A

         14  administrators, and civil money penalties.

         15                 Rehabilitation could be capitalized

         16  through a combination of private investment, capital

         17  city funds where available and continued subsidies

         18  from project-based Section 8 contracts.

         19                 Alternatively, the City could utilize

         20  capital funds to purchase packages of delinquent

         21  HUD-held mortgages at substantially-reduced rates.

         22  Following acquisition, the City could utilize a

         23  foreclosure mechanism similar to that of third-party

         24  transfer to pass these buildings on to responsible

         25  tenant associations and tenant-endorsed real estate
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          2  professionals.

          3                 Finally, where HUD is willing to

          4  acquire title to buildings through foreclosure, the

          5  City could take advantage of its federally-mandated

          6  right of first refusal to acquire these buildings

          7  from HUD following foreclosure.

          8                 In accordance with existing rules,

          9  HUD could commit substantial up-front grants to

         10  carry out the rehabilitation of these buildings,

         11  leaving the City to create responsible disposition

         12  plans that ensure the long-term preservation and

         13  revitalization of New York City's affordable housing

         14  inventory.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 MS. DAVIDSON: Good afternoon. I'm

         17  Ellen Davidson from the Legal Aid Society.

         18                 When project-based developments leave

         19  the program, either through opt-outs or

         20  foreclosures, low-income tenants who reside in these

         21  buildings can face displacement from their home. HUD

         22  offers these tenants in place of affordable housing

         23  the opportunity to obtain rental assistance in the

         24  form of Section 8 vouchers.

         25                 However, some of the displacement
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          2  protections offered to the tenants are illusory, and

          3  if President Bush's proposed budget goes into

          4  effect, more and more of these families will

          5  discover the failed promise of Section 8.

          6                 Currently in New York City there are

          7  112,000 households who are recipients of Section 8

          8  vouchers. Another 125,000 linger on a list waiting

          9  up until ten years to secure a voucher.

         10                 While vouchers offer economically

         11  vulnerable families mobility and rental assistance,

         12  the program fails to increase the affordable housing

         13  stock. Buildings leaving the project-based Section 8

         14  program through opt-outs convert to enhanced or

         15  sticky vouchers. These vouchers attempt to enhance

         16  displacement protection. However, tenants in

         17  buildings that are sold through foreclosure and

         18  public auction are offered only regular vouchers.

         19  Tenants in project-based buildings, many of whom

         20  have lived in their homes for decades must apply for

         21  these vouchers. It is a widespread misconception

         22  that these vouchers are granted automatically or are

         23  guaranteed.

         24                 The agency which administers the

         25  conversion process rescreens each family
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          2  investigating the criminal background and credit

          3  histories of each household member. An additional

          4  obstacle faced by tenants in moderate rehabilitation

          5  developments, is that the rescreening agency is HPD,

          6  with very confusing procedures.

          7                 In one such building in the Bronx,

          8  for example, many of the tenants failed to secure

          9  vouchers because the process was incomprehensible.

         10  They did not receive notice of their failure to

         11  obtain vouchers and were stunned months later to

         12  learn that their landlord was seeking thousands upon

         13  thousands of dollars of rent in the inevitable

         14  eviction proceeding.

         15                 If a tenant is able to secure a

         16  voucher successfully under these conditions, there

         17  may also be obstacles in using vouchers to stay in

         18  their homes. The apartment must be deemed the right

         19  size for the family, and the unit must be able to

         20  pass the City Housing Quality Standards inspections.

         21                 Families with vouchers are required

         22  to live in an appropriately-sized apartments based

         23  on occupancy standards. In these buildings, however,

         24  it is not unusual for a family to have outgrown

         25  their apartment and thus be denied approval to
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          2  remain. Yet, waiting lists for transfers are long.

          3                 Other families live in the apartments

          4  in which they raise their families. Now, however,

          5  the apartment may be deemed too large as their

          6  children have grown up and left the home. Under the

          7  current system all of these families will be

          8  required to move to an appropriately-sized

          9  apartment, but if no appropriately-sized apartment

         10  is available in their development, the family is

         11  forced to choose between moving out of their home,

         12  or trying to pay the full rent without Section 8

         13  assistance.

         14                 Tenants who live in project-based

         15  developments faced with foreclosure and public

         16  auction often live in dilapidated buildings. HUD's

         17  new policy of encouraging foreclosure for regulatory

         18  defaults is aimed at addressing the problem of

         19  distressed housing stock. However, after the

         20  foreclosure and auction, and after the conversion

         21  and rescreening of the process, the families' homes

         22  must still pass the stringent standards required by

         23  the City inspector.

         24                 If their units fail that inspection,

         25  these families will be displaced from their homes
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          2  and have to try to find a landlord who will accept

          3  their voucher.

          4                 In the incredibly tight real estate

          5  market in New York City, finding a landlord willing

          6  to accept a voucher has become more and more

          7  difficult.

          8                 Proposed budget cuts and rule changes

          9  at the federal level threaten the Section 8 voucher

         10  program as a whole. Under President Bush's plan to

         11  slash the budget of Section 8 programs, New York

         12  City stands to lose $104 million in 2005, and $277

         13  million in 2009.

         14                 Moreover, a new interpretation by HUD

         15  will cost NYCHA Section 8 $40 million in the current

         16  year alone. Public Housing Authorities, such as HPD

         17  and NYCHA, will be faced with hard decisions. In

         18  other jurisdictions faced with these large cutbacks,

         19  Housing Authorities have taken such draconian steps

         20  at canceling vouchers for voucher holders who are

         21  currently looking for housing but have not yet

         22  located apartments.

         23                 Increasing the amount that

         24  economically vulnerable tenants have to pay and

         25  terminating assistance for some low-income families
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          2  that currently rely on vouchers to help pay the

          3  rent, tenants who were formerly tenants of

          4  project-based buildings run the same risk of losing

          5  their vouchers because of these budgetary

          6  constraints, as all others in need of Section 8

          7  assistance.

          8                 For this reason and the reasons cited

          9  above, the promise of vouchers to project-based

         10  Section 8 tenants may well be an empty promise.

         11                 One step the Council can take toward

         12  preserving affordable housing and protecting

         13  project-based Section 8s is Intro. 186, the Tenant

         14  Empowerment Act. We wholeheartedly support this

         15  initiative.

         16                 We appreciate the opportunity to

         17  testify before the Council's Subcommittee today, and

         18  hope that Council will do all that is within its

         19  power to address these serious threats to affordable

         20  HUD-subsidized housing in New York City.

         21                 We are prepared to address any

         22  questions you might have for us at this time.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you very

         24  much.

         25                 Very informative testimony, and now
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          2  we're going to get into the questioning of this

          3  hearing.

          4                 I want to first ask if any of you

          5  have a listing of the buildings that are affected by

          6  the Section 8 program, project-based program, and if

          7  you know of at least clusters of them in any

          8  particular borough, more so in one borough than

          9  another?

         10                 MS. LESSY: There is a database that

         11  is downloadable from the HUD website, and so I think

         12  each of us has the database available and it lists

         13  every single project-based development throughout

         14  New York City.

         15                 While in our experience there are

         16  certain clusters, they are definitely geographically

         17  spread throughout all five boroughs of the City.

         18                 MS. LEVY: In addition, we've sort of

         19  done our own research. It's a little more difficult

         20  to identify the buildings that are distressed and

         21  information changes all the time. But as of March

         22  we've been able to identify these 84 buildings by

         23  name, and there is a heavy concentration in

         24  Brooklyn, the Bronx and in Harlem.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 And HUD is legally obligated to offer

          4  state and local governments the right of first

          5  refusal, and you made some mention in your

          6  testimony, to purchase a property being disposed of

          7  by HUD. Has the City, if you're aware of, ever

          8  exercised this right?

          9                 MS. LEVY: I can't speak historically.

         10  I can tell you both in the case of Pueblo, which I

         11  covered in my testimony, and in the case of an

         12  upcoming auction for the Gates-Patchen Apartments,

         13  and some residents from Gates-Patchen are here to

         14  tell you about what they're going through, the City

         15  has been phenomenal in its willingness to reach out

         16  to HUD and offer to accept its right of first

         17  refusal.

         18                 The difficulty has been in getting

         19  HUD to do its part to try and take title to these

         20  buildings. So, HUD has the choice to let them go at

         21  auction, or HUD can do everything in its power to

         22  take title to them, in which case right of first

         23  refusal kicks in, and it has been that which has

         24  been sort of the failure of the process.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: My understanding
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          2  is that the City has taken the initiative to

          3  exercise their right of first refusal but it's

          4  reciprocated as mandated by law from HUD.

          5                 MS. LEVY: Exactly.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Would you happen

          7  to know if there was a rejection for that right of

          8  first refusal by HUD for particular buildings?

          9                 MS. DAVIDSON: This summer we learned

         10  that a building was going for auction and was going

         11  to be foreclosed on in the Bronx called Pueblo Dymia

         12  (phonetic). HPD was very active in trying to ask HUD

         13  to exercise its powers to bid at the auction so that

         14  the City could exercise its right of first refusal.

         15  When HUD responded to HPD by telling them that they

         16  needed NYCHA to be the actual agency to take title

         17  to the building, because that's an actual public

         18  authority as opposed to a department of the City,

         19  NYCHA and HPD wrote a joint letter which was faxed

         20  to HUD, which was incredible how they both in a

         21  number of days were able to generate a letter and

         22  send it.

         23                 That letter was ignored until a week

         24  after the auction which they received a letter back

         25  from HUD, basically telling them they were too late.
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          2                 MS. LEVY: Yes, I was going to add,

          3  this too late business, there is nothing in the

          4  statute that governs this process for HUD that says

          5  that an offer has to come in with a certain time

          6  period, and so this "too late" just seems to be sort

          7  of a discretionary decision made by the Department.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I see.

          9                 And you made reference to particular

         10  -- and I just want to make sure, when you say

         11  NYCHA, HUD expressed that NYCHA was the Housing

         12  Authority; is HUD not recognizing that HPD is a

         13  Housing Authority as well?

         14                 MS. DAVIDSON: No. It had more to do

         15  with which entity was appropriate to take title at

         16  an auction. They felt that for various reasons that

         17  NYCHA has the ability to take title, they were

         18  recognizing NYCHA's ability to take title more than

         19  HPD. It happened very quickly, so instead of arguing

         20  with HUD about whether or not HPD was appropriate,

         21  it would seem the quickest way to get HUD to

         22  exercise its authorities under the statute was to

         23  ask NYCHA to become involved, which they did very

         24  quickly.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And despite the
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          2  venture between both Housing Authority under our

          3  local government HUD decided to reject their offer?

          4                 MS. DAVIDSON: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: You made reference

          6  in your testimony to two different scenarios, as far

          7  as solutions were concerned, one of which was the

          8  right for first refusal, which we're aware of, but

          9  then you compared it to the ability for the City to

         10  utilize capital funds to purchase packages; how is

         11  that different from the right of first refusal?

         12                 MS. LEVY: In the foreclosure process,

         13  the first thing that happens because these are

         14  HUD-insured mortgages, HUD accelerates those

         15  mortgages and actually becomes the mortgage holder.

         16  The next step is then a public auction at which HUD

         17  actually goes through the full foreclosure.

         18                 One recommendation which we've all

         19  been looking at and which we seem to have found a

         20  precedent for, actually in Missouri, is that the

         21  City could purchase these mortgages, which are in

         22  HUD's ownership, HUD owns these mortgages, the City

         23  could purchase the mortgages in bundle from HUD at

         24  reduced rate, so for pennies on the dollar

         25  theoretically, and then the City could be the one
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          2  responsible for the actual foreclosure, which would

          3  be preferable because of the City's more controlled

          4  mechanism, like third-party transfer, and because

          5  the City no longer uses public auctions when dealing

          6  with distressed affordable housing.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Have you seen a

          8  rejection from any other City nationwide where the

          9  right for first refusal has been denied similar to

         10  our case?

         11                 MS. LEVY: Personally, I haven't.

         12  Although it does bring up sort of a different, if I

         13  could sort of answer that slightly different than it

         14  was asked.

         15                 I haven't in the past, and I've done

         16  this work in Newark, New Jersey and in Dallas,

         17  Texas, and we all work with a network that is

         18  nationwide that deals with these kind of issues. We

         19  haven't seen them reject right of first refusal as

         20  sort as callously as they did in the case of Pueblo.

         21  We have seen just an unbelievable variance in the

         22  way they handle these procedures, period. So, it's

         23  sort of very difficult from a both organizing

         24  standpoint and a development standpoint to know how

         25  to deal with the federal government because their
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          2  policies vary so widely from case-to-case and that's

          3  true in different cities as well as in one city. You

          4  know, their processes don't even seem consistent

          5  within the City of New York, making it extremely

          6  difficult to deal with. It has to do with a law that

          7  passed in 1996 giving the Department extremely broad

          8  discretion to do basically anything they want when

          9  it comes to --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: When you say the

         11  Department you mean?

         12                 MS. LEVY: HUD. You referred to HUD.

         13                 In '96, you might want to cite the

         14  statute, but it's now part of the property

         15  disposition act, and it basically gives HUD the

         16  right to dispose of the property, regardless of any

         17  other provision of law.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: At their

         19  discretion?

         20                 MS. LEVY: Correct.

         21                 MS. DAVIDSON: The additional problem,

         22  when we start talking about the foreclosure and

         23  auction proceedings, is that most of the new rush to

         24  auction off buildings, comes out of a memo that was

         25  written about a year ago, and it seems that New York
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          2  is one of the first places where we're starting to

          3  see this new push for auction. So, when you ask the

          4  other advocates, other legal services agencies

          5  across the country have they seen this, and how are

          6  they dealing with it, we go back to examples from

          7  maybe ten years ago. Because there hasn't been a big

          8  push for auctions in a long time.

          9                 However, most recently we are

         10  starting to see more and more buildings showing up

         11  on the HUD website as being offered for public

         12  auction.

         13                 Pueblo is the first one that we saw

         14  in New York, but we now have two public auctions

         15  scheduled in New York, as well as we are starting to

         16  see other jurisdictions have public auctions

         17  scheduled also.

         18                 So, we feel a little bit as if New

         19  York is the testing ground for their new policy, a

         20  lot of which we understand is being generated in DC,

         21  as opposed to from our local office.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And just to

         23  continue on the solution of purchasing, playing

         24  devil's advocate here, if I were to present this May

         25  25th, when HPD will be here and NYCHA will be here,
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          2  hopefully HUD will be here, what do you see as

          3  obstacles for the City to purchase in bundle these

          4  buildings?

          5                 MS. LEVY: I want to be frank, I mean

          6  I don't really see a lot of obstacles. I think one

          7  big one is that these buildings, because they are

          8  distressed by definition, require substantial

          9  amounts of rehabilitation, and that money has to

         10  come from somewhere and the numbers have to work.

         11                 Fortunately, there is this enormous

         12  pot of money within HUD called the "federal mortgage

         13  insurance fund." It is our position that that fund

         14  could be tapped into so that the Department could,

         15  in addition to selling the mortgages at reduced

         16  rates, also make available these grant monies so

         17  that rehab could be carried out and the buildings

         18  could remain affordable.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And you had

         20  mentioned that Missouri --

         21                 MS. LEVY: Right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: -- Is the one

         23  place that they --

         24                 MS. LEVY: Yes. What we now know is

         25  that Missouri's state housing agency did in fact
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          2  purchase bundled mortgages at substantially reduced

          3  rates from HUD. We assume then, we're still doing

          4  the research, but we assume then they carried out

          5  the foreclosures.

          6                 It is not clear to us how the

          7  rehabilitation in those cases was financed. We have

          8  taken it a step further to say there is this pot of

          9  money available to the Department, to HUD, and that

         10  they should make it available for these buildings in

         11  cases of the City purchasing these mortgages.

         12                 It is not current policy, and it may

         13  require some sort of policy change within the

         14  federal government, but we're still looking into it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: But it is a good

         16  start, because, you know, our City does have

         17  mechanisms that for rehabilitation programs that do

         18  exist, marrying both that particular finance package

         19  with the rehabilitation programs that we have here,

         20  will produce these affordable units to maintain

         21  affordability.

         22                 MS. LESSY: If I could just add

         23  something?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Of course.

         25                 MS. LESSY: Right now what HUD is

                                                            41

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON PUBLIC HOUSING

          2  doing, HUD has the discretion to reissue a

          3  project-based Section 8 contract at foreclosure. It

          4  elects not to. Again, it's exercising its

          5  discretion. And it's difficult not to see it as a

          6  strategy to deregulate these buildings as affordable

          7  housing and shift the burden under a building that's

          8  been HUD supervised, and HUD subsidized onto the

          9  City of New York. And so taking proactive measures

         10  now will prevent a crisis from hitting New York

         11  City. Obviously the federal government has much more

         12  substantial resources to deal with the housing

         13  stock.

         14                 MS. LEVY: I'm just going to add to

         15  that. It's exactly right. One way to keep these

         16  buildings affordable, even in the case of what we

         17  just talked about, the purchasing of the mortgages,

         18  would be to continue the project-based subsidy,

         19  which in many cases could be marked up. In other

         20  words, they're running at well, well below market

         21  and could be raised to incur the cost of the

         22  rehabilitation.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And just to be

         24  very accurate. Prior to Pueblo, in New York City we

         25  have not seen or closed properties under the
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          2  project-based Section 8 program.

          3                 MS. LEVY: Again, a little hard to

          4  research. We found that in about a ten-year period

          5  there was something like five buildings foreclosed

          6  on, and now since Pueblo, there are, as I said

          7  earlier, 14 buildings being considered for

          8  enforcement. Pueblo was actually auctioned. The

          9  Gates-Patchen Apartments will be auctioned on May

         10  17th, and the St. Ambers Apartments will be

         11  auctioned on June 22nd. So, we're seeing, as Ellen

         12  points out, a rush, a substantial rush, from what

         13  had happened over the last ten years.

         14                 MS. LESSY: And also, can I just add

         15  to that, which is that the memo we referred to that

         16  came out in January 2003 written by the Director of

         17  Asset Management for the Department of Housing and

         18  Urban Development, clearly states that the agency

         19  wants to aggressively pursue enforcement action

         20  against buildings that fail two consecutive

         21  inspections. And so there's a new level and

         22  commitment on the federal side to aggressively

         23  deregulate or to have these distressed buildings out

         24  of their portfolio.

         25                 So, I think that since January 2003
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          2  we're starting to see the implications of this

          3  memorandum and how it's directly affected New York

          4  City.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And I just wanted

          6  to ask, as far as HUD is concerned, during the

          7  public auction, are not-profits limited? Is it

          8  exclusively for individuals or can non-profits -- I

          9  mean, if they're not recognizing the right for first

         10  refusal on behalf of the City, who is to say that

         11  they'll recognize a non-profit to take over a

         12  building as well in a public auction?

         13                 MS. DAVIDSON: I think they would

         14  recognize the non-for-profits' rights to bid. The

         15  problem with these auctions, and I've now witnessed

         16  two of them, is that even when you have a

         17  responsible developer there, the responsible

         18  developer at one point or another drops out of the

         19  bidding, because the bidding explodes so what you

         20  have left is, not only do you have the

         21  non-for-profits who have dropped out, and the

         22  responsible for-profits who have dropped out, but

         23  you end up with these bidders who have no history in

         24  multi-family housing whatsoever, and if they do have

         25  any history, like the high bidder who purchased
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          2  Pueblo, you find out that he has, I think it was

          3  like 110 units with 1,400 code violations in the HPD

          4  database. So, HUD I think would say to a non-profit

          5  if you want to bid, go ahead, but the truth of the

          6  matter is, the way that these auctions are set up,

          7  that everybody, whether for-profit or

          8  non-for-profit, who is responsible, loses out, and

          9  you end up with the irresponsible developers.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I want to move on

         11  to the technical assistance from the government.

         12                 Please describe any City, state or

         13  federal program that you know of that currently

         14  provides funding to help project-based Section 8

         15  units as affordable.

         16                 MS. DAVIDSON: I know that the LA City

         17  Council has technical assistance funds for tenant

         18  organizers, and they work very closely with the

         19  Center for -- the Coalition for Economic

         20  Sustainability, and there have been great victories

         21  in terms of preserving affordable housing through

         22  that partnership between the City Council and the

         23  tenant organizers in Los Angeles. That's one I know

         24  of.

         25                 MS. LEVY: Also in Boston the City
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          2  Council set a certain portion of the CDBG funds to

          3  provide technical assistance monies to non-profits,

          4  grassroots non-profits that assist tenants going

          5  through these processes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And so it's

          7  similar to what we do here, where we use CDGB money

          8  to provide tax abatement programs or J-51, correct?

          9  J-51 programs?

         10                 MS. LEVY: Those are actually amazing

         11  programs, but these are slightly different.

         12                 These monies are set aside

         13  specifically to provide groups that do sort of the

         14  education piece to tenants.

         15                 One of the incredible difficulties

         16  here is if you're a tenant group and you get some

         17  vague notice from HUD, 60 days before you're

         18  building goes to auction, you have no idea what it

         19  means and you have no idea what your rights are.

         20  And, so, it's groups like Tenants and Neighbors and

         21  others that go out and do the organizing to these

         22  groups and try and get sort of ahead of the notice,

         23  which is poor,  to get tenants sort of active in the

         24  process that allows them ultimately to sort of have

         25  a chance at preserving the buildings. And so, the
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          2  technical assistance money that we're speaking of in

          3  both LA and Boston was set aside specifically to

          4  fund groups who do that work with tenants.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: As an education

          6  piece.

          7                 MS. LEVY: Exactly.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Now, what about

          9  funding to be able to rehab the distressed building?

         10                 MS. LEVY: I wish we knew more about

         11  the Missouri case at this time. We're looking into

         12  it because we assume that there was no choice but

         13  for the City and State government in that case to at

         14  least partially help with the financing, but we'll

         15  certainly make that information available as we

         16  learn it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I'm going to allow

         18  Council Member Lopez to ask a few questions so that

         19  then I can come back and ask the rest.

         20                 Council Member Lopez.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The reason I am

         22  interested on this issue, is because I understand

         23  that we have a housing crisis in New York City,

         24  where only people with incredible high levels of

         25  income can afford housing in this City now.
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          2                 Saying that, two years ago the Mayor

          3  make an announcement that he was going to create

          4  65,000 units of housing that were going to be

          5  affordable. If that program will be successful and

          6  the 65,000 units be created, and under the Section 8

          7  we are approximately having 72,000 units of housing

          8  receiving Section 8 money, if that money is gone,

          9  and the 65,000 are created, what is the consequences

         10  in here?

         11                 MS. LESSY: Well, our commitment at

         12  Tenants and Neighbors is for preservation of the

         13  existing housing stock. We're supportive of any

         14  initiative to develop more housing that would be

         15  affordable, so tenants have more options who are of

         16  lower incomes, unless we preserve this existing

         17  housing stock, which really is about preserving

         18  federal dollars in New York City as well, I just

         19  don't think that the map will calculate -- these are

         20  people's homes. They need to preserve them. I don't

         21  think that development can keep pace at the level at

         22  which HUD seems interested in deregulating the

         23  existing housing stock.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then this

         25  65,000, if they are done, will not result in any
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          2  way, shape or form the problem of the 72,000 units

          3  under Section 8. It will continue to be a crisis in

          4  place. Independently, the 72,000 or the 65,000

          5  exist.

          6                 MS. LEVY: I think it's an extremely

          7  important point. We often refer to this as sort of a

          8  zero sum game, right? So, for every time we build

          9  five units of housing, we seem to lose ten, and the

         10  cost to do new construction to build new housing

         11  far, far, far outweighs the cost to preserve the

         12  already existing housing that may need some

         13  rehabilitation.

         14                 So, I think the point is extremely

         15  well taken. If we don't preserve what we've got,

         16  then any new units will just bring us back to zero.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understand

         18  that we have recognition from the City 38,000

         19  families leaving the shelter system. That means that

         20  that is 38,000 homeless individuals, or at least

         21  family of one, if I'm going to consider a family of

         22  one. Seventeen of the 2009 expiration date are at

         23  risk of losing the Section 8 money. Do you know if

         24  there's any particular method in which the City is

         25  trying to organize those tenants in order to have a
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          2  policy of prevention of losing these dollars? Shall

          3  I rephrase this question?

          4                 What I'm after is the following

          5  thing: The Mayor recognized that we need to provide

          6  new units of housing that are affordable, that's the

          7  reason he make the announcement of the 65,000.

          8                 We also recognize that we have a

          9  crisis with Section 8 where 72,000 are going to be

         10  lost. By the Year 2009, 17,000 are going to be at

         11  risk of being gone from Section 8.

         12                 I want to know if the City currently

         13  has a policy where they go and help those tenants

         14  that are in those buildings to organize and prevent

         15  the loss of those 17,000, as far as you know?

         16                 MS. LEVY: No.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then currently,

         18  as far as we know, the City is not even organizing

         19  those tenants at least to preserve and to save those

         20  federal dollars to stay here in New York City,

         21  correct?

         22                 MS. LEVY: I'm not aware of any City

         23  funding for that purpose.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: As far as you

         25  know, the agencies, the programs, the non-profit
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          2  organizations are working with these tenants, who

          3  they are?

          4                 MS. LESSY: Well, through the MORA Act

          5  (phonetic), which was passed in '97, the federal

          6  government did provide technical assistance grants

          7  to ensure tenant participation in the Mark-to-Market

          8  and Mark-Up-To-Market Program. Tenants and Neighbors

          9  was a recipient, as well as Legal Aid. Legal Aid

         10  Society, their grant timed out in December, and ours

         11  is expecting to time out in August.

         12                 Our commitment is to do trainings and

         13  outreach and collaborative organizing projects with

         14  as many neighborhood groups as possible to expand

         15  the knowledge and to expand and to include as many

         16  of the non-for profits committed to preserving this

         17  affordable housing stock so that it can be worked on

         18  throughout New York City, since we are seeing that

         19  the technical assistance grants are evaporating.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then the only

         21  two agencies that exist --

         22                 MS. DAVIDSON: No. That exist, no. I

         23  mean, certainly you have --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: No, no.

         25                 MS. DAVIDSON: I'm sorry.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understand

          3  that UHAB is there, but I want to understand how

          4  many agencies or non-for-profit are there dedicated

          5  exclusively to train, make aware, develop, create

          6  conscience on the tenants who live in these

          7  buildings and are out there making sure that these

          8  tenants know what Section is, how to better preserve

          9  and save Section 8; what can you do as a tenant to

         10  be able to proceed with preservation of those

         11  buildings, knowing what the law is about Section 8,

         12  what it means to renew the contract by the tenant,

         13  what it means by the landlord to get out of the

         14  programs? How many non-for-profit organizations, how

         15  many agencies are there working with the tenants in

         16  this fashion in regard to what I just said?

         17                 MS. DAVIDSON: Very, very few.

         18  Obviously the three agencies we represent are doing

         19  the work.

         20                 Part of the problem is I think that

         21  there are other agencies who obviously work very

         22  closely with tenants, but the specialized knowledge

         23  of the Section 8 program that one needs to actually

         24  go out and educate the tenants about what is going

         25  on, it's difficult to learn because these are

                                                            52

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON PUBLIC HOUSING

          2  federal regulations that are complicated, and

          3  reading the statutes and the regulations, it's not

          4  always easy to understand. Certainly I would like to

          5  say that there are other legal services

          6  organizations, such as South Brooklyn Legal

          7  Services, who are also working with tenants in

          8  Section 8 buildings, and I believe there is a tenant

          9  who is currently working with that agency who will

         10  testify later and who I'm sure will talk about some

         11  of the great work that they're doing. But there are

         12  very, very few agencies who have the technical

         13  knowledge to be able to actually do the work that

         14  needs to be done with the tenants.

         15                 MS. LESSY: There are certain

         16  organizations that should be commended for all the

         17  efforts that they've performed, Good Old Lower East

         18  Side, Neighbors Helping Neighbors, Pratt Area

         19  Community Council, Housing Conservation

         20  Coordinators, PROPA (phonetic), Bronx Northwest,

         21  Community and Clergy Coalition. There are a number

         22  of community-based organizations that do work on

         23  these issues often in collaboration. We know that we

         24  have done active collaborative efforts, which have

         25  been quite successful, and so those efforts go on
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          2  and where they have the knowledge of the

          3  neighborhood and we bring in more of the technical

          4  knowledge so it can be a collaboration.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I'm

          6  familiarized with all of those things that you're

          7  talking about. I am after one thing only, and what I

          8  am after is to prove that the tenants of all of

          9  these buildings do not know, do not have access,

         10  they are unaware of what is coming to them. They are

         11  not familiarized or educated about what it means,

         12  the new rules and regulations that have been come in

         13  place, simply because the structures to notify them,

         14  the educational program that is needed for them to

         15  know doesn't exist, and it doesn't exist because the

         16  organizations that you mentioned, although they are

         17  great organizations and they tried to do the most

         18  that they can, they do not come with the necessary

         19  budgets, they do not come with the people power to

         20  be able to deliver the education that is necessary;

         21  therefore, what we have in here is a process on

         22  Section 8 that do not allow the tenants to know what

         23  is coming down the pike. Therefore, one of the

         24  critical things that we need to do here is to change

         25  the way in which the regulation to allow a landlord
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          2  to get out, to be changed by the federal government,

          3  in which tenants should be notified well in advance,

          4  in which tenants should be organized prior to coming

          5  to the steps in front of their home; would you say

          6  that?

          7                 MS. LESSY: Yes. And I would also add

          8  that in the last year there has been immense rule

          9  changes that directly effect tenants' eligibility

         10  for the program. There is a new model lease. HUD has

         11  a new handbook that drastically changed the process

         12  where tenants certify. There has been this change of

         13  inspection procedure, and there has been no effort

         14  to educate tenants about these rule changes, and,

         15  yet, they're expected to follow the rules, and that

         16  is of immense concern to us, that there is no

         17  consistent effort on the part of the federal

         18  government to educate tenants about the very rules

         19  they must follow in order to preserve their homes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then rules have

         21  been put in place, regulations have been put in

         22  place under Section 8 that are totally new. The

         23  tenants are not given any training, any education

         24  that is mandated and obligated by HUD in order to

         25  allow these tenants to learn, but then they have to
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          2  follow, they have to obey and they have to comply.

          3  And these are the same rules that at the end of the

          4  day jeopardize the 72,000 units of Section 8 base

          5  housing, correct?

          6                 MS. LESSY: Yes, correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Therefore, it

          8  is critical, in order for us to be looking at saving

          9  Section 8 in New York City, that the method in which

         10  this happened, in which auctions occur, in which

         11  tenants contracts are signed, in which Section 8

         12  base buildings get out of the program, it is

         13  critical to begin by changing the transparency of

         14  the process at the federal level allowing tenants to

         15  know from the beginning to the end that Section 8

         16  now may leave and never come back; would you say

         17  that that is correct?

         18                 MS. LESSY: Absolutely.

         19                 MS. DAVIDSON: Absolutely.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then that would

         21  be the first step that we need to follow here in

         22  order to begin saving some of the Section 8; would

         23  you say that?

         24                 MS. LEVY: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And my last
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          2  question in regard of tenants who are disabled,

          3  let's go a little bit in that direction.

          4                 We know that Section 8 was created in

          5  our City, and big numbers of those units of housing

          6  were set aside for people with disabilities, because

          7  when these buildings were built or were

          8  rehabilitated, one of the requirements were that

          9  they be wheelchair accessible, correct?

         10                 MS. LEVY: Yes. Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Therefore, we

         12  know that many tenants who lived in these buildings

         13  are disabled tenants. If these buildings that are in

         14  Section 8 based housing go out of the program, do

         15  you know what will happen to those tenants who are

         16  disabled, that usually have an income level that is

         17  fixed of $650 a week; what will happen to them if

         18  the building go out of Section 8? They need

         19  buildings that have elevators and are wheelchair

         20  accessible; what do you think will happen to them?

         21  Can you help us to understand that?

         22                 MS. LESSY: If they're in a

         23  multi-family property with a project based Section 8

         24  contract and not a special building like a 202 set

         25  aside for seniors and the disabled, then their fate
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          2  will be identical to every other tenant who lives in

          3  that building. There will be no special

          4  accommodations made.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: For them?

          6                 MS. LESSY: Right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And the fact

          8  that they are on a fixed income, how that will

          9  reflect in order for them to be able to maintain

         10  themselves in these buildings?

         11                 MS. DAVIDSON: There will be no

         12  special accommodations. They will have the same

         13  difficulties as the families that have more incomes

         14  and families that have no disabilities. They will

         15  face, obviously they will face the special

         16  challenges that they face every day, but they will

         17  no longer have the protections that the

         18  project-based buildings may have given them in the

         19  past.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then they have

         21  a double-whammy.

         22                 MS. DAVIDSON: Yes, exactly.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Do you think

         24  that when Congress was looking into the changes of

         25  the regulations, do you think that they took into
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          2  consideration that many of these buildings are

          3  occupied by disabled people who don't have no other

          4  choice than to leave in those buildings? There is

          5  nothing else accessible for them? Do you think they

          6  took that into consideration, or you think that they

          7  did not?

          8                 MS. DAVIDSON: I see no evidence that

          9  they considered that. I have not seen any special

         10  treatment that Congress might have given the issue

         11  of disabled in their building.

         12                 Although, a lot of these regulations

         13  are regulations that are generated by HUD, and

         14  without congressional involvement at all and I

         15  certainly have seen no evidence that HUD is taking

         16  into consideration the special challenges that

         17  people who have disabilities face. Absolutely not.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Well, do they

         19  know very clear and they are aware that many of

         20  these buildings are occupied by disabled people,

         21  correct?

         22                 MS. DAVIDSON: They should know that.

         23  It's their building. I mean, they are responsible

         24  for the buildings. They should know who lives in

         25  those buildings and what sort of disabilities they
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          2  have, you're absolutely right.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Wait a minute.

          4  I don't want to leave this at the level of they

          5  should know. Because it's a fact that HUD had to

          6  receive the income from where -- the information

          7  from where that person received the income.

          8                 MS. DAVIDSON: Absolutely. They

          9  received the income and they know that the people

         10  are, if they're getting SSI they know that, they

         11  certainly question and receive on the income

         12  recertification special medical needs that a tenant

         13  may have which allows them to adjust the tenants'

         14  rent. So HUD is absolutely aware of the tenants'

         15  disabilities.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Well, you said

         17  that this particular problem will affect in

         18  disproportional ways communities of colors.

         19                 MS. DAVIDSON: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: How

         21  disproportional?

         22                 MS. LEVY: Fortunately we don't have

         23  the numbers, the statistics. But having done this

         24  work for many years, all of us see that there is a

         25  huge concentration of the Section 8 buildings, and
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          2  particularly the distressed Section 8 buildings in

          3  communities of color.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: We've just been

          6  joined by Council Member Perkins.

          7                 Before I continue the line of

          8  questioning and let Council Member Perkins ask a few

          9  of his own, I'd like to just ask the panel to

         10  elaborate on how, if they'd like to elaborate, on

         11  how President Bush's proposal for tenant-based

         12  Section 8 will affect HPD and NYCHA's ability to

         13  issue enhanced vouchers to tenants in buildings

         14  leaving the project-based Section 8, considering

         15  that there is a block grant for Section 8 that will

         16  reduce the amount as a whole and then on an

         17  individual basis.

         18                 MS. DAVIDSON: Well, obviously, one of

         19  the things that enhanced vouchers, that an enhanced

         20  voucher will do, is allow an apartment to have a

         21  higher than usual rent, in order to -- they do away

         22  with some of the rent reasonable standards of

         23  regular apartments.

         24                 So, it ends up that I think enhanced

         25  vouchers may be three times as expensive as regular
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          2  vouchers. Obviously, if there are more and more

          3  enhanced vouchers, there is less and less of a pot

          4  of money that one would expect for vouchers in New

          5  York City for NYCHA and HPD.

          6                 It seems clear that what President

          7  Bush is proposing is to decrease the pot of money

          8  for vouchers for each state, as he then devolves the

          9  regulations and sends the money to the state for the

         10  state to decide how it's going to regulate the

         11  vouchers. But for all their talk of giving NYCHA and

         12  HPD more power in deciding on how to regulate their

         13  own vouchers, at the core of what's being done is

         14  lessening the amount of money that's available for

         15  vouchers. Enhanced vouchers, also, the fact that the

         16  vouchers are enhanced, they're more expensive.

         17                 MS. LEVY: I wanted to add, I mean one

         18  thing that we have to consider, which is something

         19  you pointed out, is that in neighborhoods that are

         20  changing in New York City right now, so Harlem comes

         21  to mind and Washington Heights and even Bed Stuy and

         22  Brooklyn, where we're seeing rents are going higher

         23  and higher, under President Bush's proposal,

         24  enhanced vouchers would only be good for one year,

         25  which basically means at the end of one year, that
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          2  tenant Section 8 income is limited to the payment

          3  standard, and if the payment standard is less than

          4  what the landlord is charging for that unit, a

          5  tenant will have to come out of pocket for the

          6  difference or take the voucher and go somewhere

          7  else. And this will be truly, truly devastating,

          8  both in terms of administration for NYCHA and HPD to

          9  have to administer this and keep up with this, and

         10  for those tenants who are going to be forced out

         11  after one year of where they may have lived their

         12  whole lives.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And I guess you've

         14  answered the next question I was going to ask: What

         15  will happen to tenants in project-based Section 8 if

         16  enhanced vouchers are not available - obviously they

         17  will become homeless.

         18                 I want to make reference to your

         19  testimony where you had read, the opportunity to

         20  participate in this preservation program, the

         21  Mark-To-Market Program at this time scheduled to end

         22  in September 2006, I wanted to understand why the

         23  expiration date?

         24                 MS. LESSY: It's only scheduled

         25  through that time. There is a possibility that the
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          2  program will be continued, but what we're seeing is

          3  that the Department of HUD that handles it, OMAR,

          4  they're consolidating the offices, the staff who we

          5  work with on these Mark-To-Market programs are

          6  saying that they only know that their job will exist

          7  through September, and for the Mark-to-Market

          8  Program, tenant participation is mandated and the

          9  technical assistance that ensures that tenants

         10  actually participate so that a good solid plan

         11  that's actually implemented for their building will

         12  be successful, that has already timed out. So, it

         13  seems that there is sort of a multi-pronged attack

         14  on the Mark-To-Market Program right now.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And what would be

         16  the effect of that under attack for the

         17  Mark-To-Market, the consequences?

         18                 MS. DAVIDSON: The Mark-To-Market

         19  program is a wonderful preservation tool. You end up

         20  having buildings at the end of the entire process

         21  agree to have another 20 or 30 years of

         22  project-based Section 8.

         23                 Additionally, what the Mark-To-Market

         24  program does is that the agency that implements it,

         25  or the entity that implements it will do independent
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          2  engineering studies to evaluate the physical

          3  conditions of the building.

          4                 It's that particular area,

          5  considering the physical conditions of the building

          6  and possible reserve monies to be put into account

          7  for major capital improvements in the future, that

          8  that's where the tenants are most important, that's

          9  where their participation is most important, because

         10  the tenants know better than anyone else what is the

         11  actual condition of the building because they're

         12  living in the building.

         13                 By allowing the funds for technical

         14  assistance to end, what HUD is really doing is

         15  curtailing tenant participation in the

         16  Mark-To-Market Program. As someone who has been

         17  involved with the technical assistance in this

         18  particular program, I have certainly seen times in

         19  which engineers have overlooked very important

         20  aspects of a building, whether it be roofs or

         21  elevators that didn't happen to be having problems

         22  on that particular day, and it's the tenants'

         23  involvement and the organized tenants' in the

         24  process that has enabled funds be set aside so these

         25  buildings can be maintained for the next 20 and 30
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          2  years.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And this is just

          4  so that people can understand why it's good for

          5  another 30 years. The financial restructuring allows

          6  it to be for another 30 years.

          7                 MS. LESSY: Otherwise the subsidy to

          8  the landlord would be reduced and that would

          9  frequently provoke default on the part of the

         10  current landlord. This allows the program to be

         11  developed that will satisfy the needs of the

         12  tenants, to make sure that all rehab will be done

         13  and completed at the property, but also to prevent

         14  that landlord from defaulting on it, so it's a

         15  win/win program that helps preserve programs for the

         16  long-term in exchange for everyone's needs being

         17  addressed.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I wanted to ask

         19  you, can you describe bond amendment, and is that a

         20  good method of protecting the disabled and seniors?

         21                 MS. LESSY: The Bond Amendment was

         22  something passed by Senator Bond of Missouri, and it

         23  ensured that there would be a reissuing of a

         24  project-based Section 8 contract at foreclosure for

         25  Section 202 buildings, especially for senior
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          2  citizens and those living with disabilities.

          3                 I believe that what we're seeing with

          4  HUD right now in their approach to multi-family

          5  properties is inconsistent and really doesn't look

          6  at the long-term health and financial life of the

          7  building. If HUD knew that they had to maintain the

          8  project-based Section 8 contracting, it wouldn't be

          9  an opportunity to deregulate. There would be a

         10  greater responsibility and greater accountability on

         11  developing final disposition plans, that were

         12  responsible for all parties.

         13                 Right now HUD can say, well, it won't

         14  be our problem anymore, it will be the city's

         15  problem.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you. My

         17  counsel is just trying to prep me with a follow-up

         18  question to that particular issue.

         19                 As far as Bond Amendment are

         20  concerned, do you know of any properties in New York

         21  City that have been foreclosed by HUD, primarily

         22  occupied by elderly and disabled where the Bond

         23  Amendment was not applicable, or was not applied?

         24                 MS. LEVY: To my knowledge, the

         25  foreclosures that we've mentioned over even the last
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          2  ten years have not been 202 or 811 buildings, which

          3  are senior and disabled.

          4                 But to sort of take it one step

          5  further, you know, we have seen, and this is true

          6  again, in Newark and in Dallas and in Boston and in

          7  LA and in New York, the following foreclosure HUD

          8  absolutely refuses to renew project-based Section 8

          9  contracts, despite the complete congressional

         10  authority to do so. They absolutely refuse to do it.

         11                 And, you know, the tenants of the

         12  Patchen, who are here today, are trying to push HUD

         13  to sort of reconsider that policy decision, but so

         14  far to no avail.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Could you define

         16  what primarily occupied is, that part?

         17                 Defined by HUD, is that 50 percent?

         18  Is that 51 percent?

         19                 MS. LEVY: It's funny, I'm sorry I

         20  don't know the technical term. We kind of use it any

         21  time there's tenants living there.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 I will allow Council Member Perkins,

         25  who has kindly joined us, to ask a few questions.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          3  very much, Madam Chairperson.

          4                 This was a very timely and obviously

          5  very important matter, particularly for my district,

          6  and I'm sure for many districts in which we are

          7  seeing various manifestations of this program either

          8  phasing out or opting out or falling out or whatever

          9  the case may be, ultimately winding or threatening

         10  the homes and the livelihoods of thousands and

         11  thousands of people that live in our neighborhoods

         12  affordable housing that in itself very often is in

         13  need of serious repair, even as they are being

         14  threatened to be moved out of them.

         15                 I appreciate your leadership in

         16  providing us with an opportunity to look at this,

         17  and I have a few concerns. I realize that in your

         18  solutions you've identified some cities that seem to

         19  represent some local efforts at addressing this

         20  problem.

         21                 My feeling right now is that there

         22  has to be a sort of moratorium on all this activity,

         23  because right now it's clear to me that there is a

         24  serious lack of vision and understanding about how

         25  do we provide housing, affordable housing for people
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          2  who are low, moderate income, in a way that may be

          3  in contradiction to the underlying philosophy of

          4  what this country is about and what has essentially

          5  been how we have built so-called Section 8 and other

          6  low income and affordable housing.

          7                 The housing was not necessarily built

          8  for the tenants, from my perspective. The housing

          9  was basically deals made with real estate interests

         10  that incidentally resulted in housing opportunities

         11  for people with low and moderate income.

         12                 I say that not facetiously. I say

         13  that because ultimately what has happened is every

         14  solution has primarily been how do we continue to

         15  support the profitable opportunities for the real

         16  estate people as opposed to the affordability of the

         17  housing in a long-term meaningful way for the people

         18  that live in it.

         19                 Even the solutions where you have the

         20  so-called vouchers or the sticky vouchers are not

         21  real solutions for tenants in terms of housing

         22  opportunities, they are band-aid solutions that keep

         23  them in an insecure maybe kind of present and

         24  future, whereas for the owners, the real estate

         25  interests, and sometimes they're not-for-profit
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          2  interests by the way, there's a much more secure and

          3  deliberate understanding about their needs. So, I'm

          4  concerned about that, and I'm wondering if in light

          5  of that concern you have found some of these local

          6  efforts addressing the concerns that I have.

          7                 Ownership is very, very important. In

          8  the absence of ownership, because you mentioned the

          9  third-party transfer program, I think the best

         10  program the City has had has been the TIL program,

         11  frankly, in which there was a design for the tenants

         12  to ultimately be trained to own and to manage, and

         13  even if they had to get some professional expertise

         14  to do the management because of one thing or

         15  another, that was the design. And even if they opted

         16  not to do it, that was the design. But it was

         17  designed primarily with them at the ultimate

         18  receiving end of the opportunity, not the interest

         19  of the real estate. And I'm not against landlords

         20  per se, or developers per se, but I just know that

         21  -- so, I'm just wondering for the moment, what is

         22  happening in these other jurisdictions that truly

         23  represents some sort of empowerment for the people

         24  that live in these buildings, as opposed to a

         25  band-aid solution that basically continues the
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          2  profitability for developers or some of the

          3  landlords?

          4                 MS. LEVY: I appreciate the question a

          5  lot. I mentioned third-party transfer because, well,

          6  you're right, it's not TIL, it does have a opt-out

          7  for tenants. So, in third-party transfer system

          8  currently tenants have the right to buy a majority

          9  of 60 percent or more, determine that they would

         10  like to own the building. And I agree with you, that

         11  is a more permanent and sort of visionary solution

         12  to solving some of the affordable housing crisis

         13  than say just Section 8 vouchers and other sort of

         14  after the fact sort of band-aids.

         15                 In Boston about ten years ago, they

         16  created a property disposition demonstration program

         17  in which every time there is a foreclosure tenants

         18  had the right to first say if they wanted to take

         19  control of the building. Following that, the tenants

         20  could point to a partner, a non-profit partner, and

         21  that became the second tier of right of first

         22  refusal in that program. It was successful. To be

         23  perfectly frank, it had some flaws and it was

         24  extremely expensive, and perhaps not well thought

         25  through in that regard. But it is sort of the same
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          2  tone as what I think us and our allies who are

          3  working on this are looking towards, which is a

          4  program that ultimately would give tenants the right

          5  to purchase these buildings with some subsidy and

          6  some private financing that allows them to remain

          7  truly affordable with or without the Section 8

          8  program.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Now, in that

         10  regard, how many instances of first refusal have

         11  been exercised in any meaningful way, would you

         12  know? Would any of these jurisdictions identify?

         13                 MS. LEVY: Frankly, I'm sorry, I don't

         14  know how many buildings were saved ultimately in the

         15  Boston demonstration program, and that's in fact the

         16  only program with regard to foreclosure that I'm

         17  aware of.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, just so

         19  I'm clear, in places like San Francisco, Portland

         20  and all of these other identified places, they

         21  didn't exercise right of first refusal?

         22                 MS. LESSY: Well, sort of two

         23  different topics. The property disposition

         24  demonstration project, a building could go into

         25  foreclosure whether or not it's hitting its contract
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          2  expiration date. HUD can take that action at this

          3  time whenever it chooses to do so, whenever a

          4  building has failed two consecutive inspections in a

          5  row.

          6                 Right of first refusal bills in other

          7  localities give tenants right of first refusal, when

          8  they are hitting the contract expiration date and

          9  the current landlord has indicated that he or she no

         10  longer chooses to stay in the existing affordable

         11  housing program.

         12                 In terms of numbers, that's research

         13  that we could have, but we don't have that offhand.

         14  I mean, most of those bills are also fairly new.

         15  This is something that started since Mark-To-Market

         16  was created. Yes, we could research exactly how many

         17  times tenants have been able to purchase their

         18  buildings in those other municipalities.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And some of

         20  the mechanics that they went through towards, you

         21  know, acquiring the financing. You know, you

         22  mentioned some partnerships with some private

         23  developers, whatever that may have entailed, it will

         24  be helpful as well, because, you know, St. Phillips

         25  on the Park, Enis Francis Houses (phonetic), two of
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          2  several in my district are kissing that moment when

          3  they may be forced into some very difficult

          4  decision-making process, and I gather, you know, a

          5  lot of my colleagues are in the same circumstances.

          6                 The ultimate solution for this stuff

          7  is federal. We can do some stuff on the local level,

          8  as you might have suggested, and some other ideas

          9  that may come, but ultimately it's federal. One side

         10  you have this administration, the Bush

         11  Administration, are doing their best, hear me loud

         12  and clear, folks, if you're out there, doing their

         13  best to effectively evict folks from these

         14  developments -- another reason to register and vote

         15  -- on one hand; and on the other hand, I don't hear

         16  much from Congress in terms of some alternative

         17  solutions. And I'm just wondering if you have been

         18  in touch with anybody in Congress in terms of what

         19  they consider to be a counter thrust that perhaps

         20  tenants can rally around and perhaps can become --

         21  this has to be politicized, from my point of view.

         22  This is not an intellectual thing anymore, this is a

         23  reality. It has to sort of be like one of those

         24  third rails in politics with the thousands of

         25  tenants that are subject, victimized by this, have
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          2  to make this the reason why they do or don't vote

          3  and for whom they do or don't vote. That's how I

          4  feel about it.

          5                 Are we seeing anything as an

          6  alternative to the Bush Administration's proposal

          7  coming out of Congress?

          8                 MS. LESSY: Some of the current

          9  legislative recommendations at the federal level

         10  that we're seeking to make. One was addressed,

         11  mandate that HUD must reissue project-based Section

         12  8 contracts at foreclosure, the extension of the

         13  Bond Amendment.

         14                 Another would be that HUD does not

         15  allow owners to prepay --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: These are your

         17  proposals?

         18                 MS. LESSY: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: But they have not

         20  been endorsed by any particular congress person.

         21                 MS. LESSY: Not yet.

         22                 We're in communication with offices,

         23  particularly as it hits their district.

         24                 So much of the policies that we're

         25  seeing now being implemented by HUD, are being
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          2  implemented through memo, and are only now impacting

          3  the congressional districts at risk. And, so, we're

          4  in the process of developing solutions in terms of

          5  do we have sign on by any one particular entity in

          6  New York; we're not at that stage. We're still in

          7  the education and communication phase. But there are

          8  certainly federal legislative strategies that folks

          9  could pursue, including exit tax relief that would

         10  make it easier for owners who don't want to stay in

         11  the affordable housing program to leave it without

         12  finding a tax penalty for the limited partners, not

         13  allowing owners to leave the affordable housing

         14  program to prepay, if they're in violation of the

         15  regulatory agreement with the federal government,

         16  among other recommendations. And we are urging the

         17  New York Delegation to take on this issue very

         18  strongly.

         19                 And if I can say in addition, since

         20  our organization is statewide, we're seeing

         21  buildings at risk upstate as well. Obviously your

         22  concern is the New York City Council, but we do

         23  believe this is ultimately a statewide issue as

         24  well.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Has the

                                                            77

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON PUBLIC HOUSING

          2  Bloomberg Administration had any progressive

          3  positive response to this crisis as it affects the

          4  citizens of New York that you're familiar with?

          5                 MS. LEVY: Inasmuch as we actually

          6  covered this earlier, both HPD and the Housing

          7  Authority, NYCHA, have at least recently gone to

          8  great lengths to try and mitigate this problem on

          9  behalf of organized tenants associations, both at

         10  the Pueblo Dymia Apartments (phonetic) and the

         11  Gates-Patchen Apartments, and they think by

         12  extension they have showed a willingness to try and

         13  do something to acquire these buildings.

         14                 Again, it goes back to what you said

         15  earlier, it is not reciprocated, unfortunately, by

         16  the federal government, who unfortunately hold the

         17  chips.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I will say that

         19  the Administration has been very kind, at least in

         20  regard to my district with regard to the Section 8

         21  tenants in many instances.

         22                 I will say that in the case of

         23  Phillips Plaza, that recently is not a Section 8 but

         24  is a Mitchell Lama. The Administration went out of

         25  its way to try to figure out how to help the tenants
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          2  of this Section 8, with the Section 8 vouchers on

          3  Phillips Plaza. The problem is that it's the sticky

          4  voucher again, which create other problems and

          5  create other precautions that are not necessarily

          6  what we would like to see in regard to this business

          7  of Section 8.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, I'm

          9  glad to hear that they've been helpful in those

         10  cases, but my concern is not how they have -- and

         11  I'm not being critical, I think there has to be a

         12  notion of crisis that we're in, and the

         13  Administration, I would hope, and the Council for

         14  that matter, should be proposing, should be

         15  launching some proposals with you or without you but

         16  nevertheless in response to this.

         17                 In other words, I appreciate the fact

         18  that they are there to help in terms of maybe this

         19  third-party transfer approach, or maybe in terms of

         20  some Section 8, and I'm not knocking that, but I

         21  think that that doesn't necessarily address the

         22  other aspect of the problem, which is that this will

         23  continue to happen. And, so, I know, for instance,

         24  from the perspective of a moratorium, that the

         25  reason why the TIL program worked, and the reason
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          2  why there has been some kind of progress from a

          3  certain point of view, is because the City took

          4  these properties under its own jurisdiction, which

          5  provided, with some level of visible responsibility,

          6  by comparison to the absentee landlord. Or by

          7  comparison to the hostile landlord who sometimes had

          8  to be removed from the 7A administrator approach.

          9                 So, what I'm wondering is, you know,

         10  maybe the federal government needs to take on some

         11  responsibility with regard to this housing from the

         12  same point of view, so then we would have some point

         13  of accountability. You know, it was by virtue of

         14  that model that you had and Mishnick (phonetic), and

         15  all the other not-for-profit community-based

         16  developers and managers and organizers were able to

         17  get the City to be more responsive to the housing

         18  needs of those tenement buildings and whatnot that

         19  they took over.

         20                 So, my thing is, maybe the federal

         21  government needs to take on more responsibility.

         22  They apparently have been acknowledged as doing a

         23  wonderful job with regard to the Housing Authority,

         24  in some instances, in terms of their management of

         25  their property. They could be doing better, a lot
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          2  better, but I think you get more accountability out

          3  of them than you might get out of some other owners

          4  who we've been trying to track down time and time

          5  again and can't get our hands on. That's my last

          6  question, if you would respond to that.

          7                 MS. LEVY: I would agree to that.  I

          8  appreciate the point that you made. I think what we

          9  have to pressure the federal government, in this

         10  case HUD, to do is enact policies that don't punish

         11  tenants further for the misfortune of having a

         12  landlord who is not maintaining the property or who

         13  no longer wishes to stay in the affordable housing

         14  program. The solutions can't be worse than the

         15  existing problems.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I appreciate those

         17  words.

         18                 Council Member Perkins hit the head

         19  on the nail as they say -- hit the nail on the head.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It's clear,

         21  though, we are Latino, we always twist the things

         22  because we speak Spanish and we speak the other way.

         23  Very interesting. Every time I see you I realize how

         24  we speak.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I just wanted to
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          2  mention that home ownership is the key for tenants

          3  to stop becoming vulnerable, and I look forward to a

          4  solution where we can push towards the limited

          5  equity affordable cooperative as a solution. You

          6  know, this is just the first of many conversations

          7  that we will be having, but I wanted to just

          8  pinpoint how we need to begin identifying.

          9                 You had mentioned that there is a

         10  list that's listed on their website, as far as HUD

         11  is concerned, but that list is not accurate as far

         12  as listing by expiration date or by foreclosure the

         13  necessity of becoming more prepared as a City to

         14  deal with this issue, and so transparency at that

         15  level is quite important, and I hope that amongst

         16  the proposals that you will bring forward to the

         17  Congressional delegation of New York State, because

         18  this does involve other cities throughout the state,

         19  that we will include that specific specificity. And

         20  I look forward to just hoping that once you have

         21  these proposals written out, that we can take a look

         22  at it as a body in the City Council, hopefully join

         23  with the Administration to be able to push for these

         24  ideas and concepts.

         25                 Does that sound like a reasonable
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          2  solution, Council Member Perkins?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes, it does.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you.

          5                 MS. LESSY: I'm sorry, can I just add

          6  that low-income limited equity co-ops are one

          7  possibility, but there are other preservation

          8  possibilities including joint ventures and mutual

          9  housing, as well as the preservation rentals.

         10                 So, I just want to make sure that we

         11  are aware that tenants have a range of options

         12  available to them, and a range of partners available

         13  to them.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Sure.

         15                 I would like to end this panel with

         16  Council Member Lopez. She has a follow-up question.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just want to

         18  point out before we continue that that's precisely

         19  the purpose of this hearing, Council Member Perkins,

         20  is a series of initiatives already in the Council,

         21  where some are intros and some are resolutions to

         22  address this problem. And because many of the issues

         23  lie in the hands of Congress, many of them are

         24  resolutions only, and today we are looking into one

         25  of those resolutions that speak about the
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          2  transparency of the process in which tenants are

          3  finding themselves in that situation. And the reason

          4  Council Member Reyna, the Chair of this Committee,

          5  held this hearing today, in order for us to begin

          6  moving that agenda.

          7                 And at least I know of four different

          8  pieces of legislation that we have in here that will

          9  impact this process.

         10                 Now, saying that, I want to go to the

         11  Bond Amendment. In my district on 28th Street and

         12  30th Street are two buildings that are basically

         13  occupied by disabled people, and seniors, that's it.

         14  That's what live in there. A couple of years ago

         15  they were going to opt out of the program. I began

         16  organizing with the tenants of the community, and we

         17  utilized clearly the question of disability as a

         18  matter of not allowing HUD to allow this landlord to

         19  get out of the program.

         20                 Now, the Bond Amendment made HUD, to

         21  obligate them not to allow a building that is going

         22  to be foreclosure to allow seniors and tenants who

         23  are disabled, not to allow them to get out of there

         24  but that they have to continue maintaining that

         25  building in the case of foreclosure.
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          2                 Do you know if this Bond Amendment

          3  apply also in the case of buildings that are not

          4  foreclosure but they are going to be just opting

          5  out, like the two buildings that I described to you?

          6                 MS. LESSY: It does not include

          7  expiring contracts.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It does not?

          9                 MS. LESSY: It does not.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then the

         11  protection that tenants have under the foreclosure

         12  who are disabled and seniors, is only for them and

         13  it doesn't expand beyond that, no matter what, that

         14  building is for disabled people and seniors?

         15                 MS. LESSY: Right. It also doesn't

         16  protect the 40 percent of project-based Section 8

         17  population of live-in buildings classified as

         18  multi-family. So, even though these buildings are in

         19  large part occupied by seniors and those living with

         20  disabilities, they do not have the same protections.

         21  It's all about the classification of your buildings,

         22  and it does not include expiring contracts.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The Bond

         24  Amendment, when it was created, was created by a

         25  mandate on the federal regulation or is HUD in the
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          2  internal regulations that they put that in there?

          3                 MS. LEVY: It was statutory.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Statutory. And

          5  at the time that that happened, it was from the

          6  beginning of the program, or this is something that

          7  later was modified?

          8                 MS. LEVY: It was about five years

          9  ago.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Five years ago.

         11                 Do you know why they did not include

         12  the buildings that were opting out? Because I mean

         13  the fact that they are opting out doesn't mean that

         14  the person who is disabled or senior become young

         15  and non-disabled.

         16                 MS. LEVY: I don't know why it wasn't

         17  included. I don't.

         18                 MS. LESSY: And we're in conversations

         19  with that office now so that they will include all

         20  multi-family properties, because as we know, the

         21  category of the building that you live in is often

         22  arbitrary and doesn't fully reflect the population

         23  within it, and all tenants deserve those same

         24  protections. And, so, we're hoping to see an

         25  expansion of that to encompass all of the
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          2  multi-family properties, including the senior

          3  citizens who live there, including those living with

          4  disabilities, and including the families with

          5  children who live there as well.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Do you know if

          7  in any of the foreclosures that happened in New York

          8  City, were seniors and disabled people in those

          9  buildings that were not protected by HUD under the

         10  Bond Amendment?

         11                 MS. LEVY: It's a great question. As

         12  Anne pointed out earlier, the amendment speaks to

         13  buildings that were created as 202 or 811 buildings.

         14                 Having said that, and none of the

         15  foreclosures cover 202s or 811s. But having said

         16  that, some of the multi-family buildings that do get

         17  foreclosed on have a population of seniors and

         18  disabled, but don't have that classification. And

         19  those buildings, seniors and disabled do not get the

         20  special treatment that they get if they happen to

         21  live in a 202 or an 811. So, in the case of

         22  Gates-Patchen, which again will be foreclosed on in

         23  about two weeks, actually two weeks from today,

         24  there are seniors and disabled folks living there

         25  who will not get special protection.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And they will

          3  not be protected because it doesn't apply to them.

          4                 MS. LESSY: Correct.

          5                 So, you could have a building where

          6  in reality the tenant population is a hundred

          7  percent senior citizens and those living with

          8  disabilities, it's all about the way that the

          9  building has been classified. They are not

         10  protected. They will have to go through the same

         11  experience as everyone else, the way the HUD is

         12  foreclosing on project-based Section 8 properties.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But then what

         14  that means is that a lot of the building that our

         15  Section 8 base have the population of seniors and

         16  disabled people, and this Bond Amendment is baloney.

         17  Because it's not applied to the buildings where they

         18  live.

         19                 MS. LESSY: Well, we think rather than

         20  putting the Bond Amendment as a negative, I'd rather

         21  see an expansion of it to more accurately reflect

         22  the fact that the building that you live in with the

         23  scarcity of affordable housing resources, where you

         24  end up is it's fairly arbitrary, and that in order

         25  to serve the entire population and to preserve the
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          2  affordable housing stock, and frankly, to rein in

          3  HUD's final disposition plans at these distressed

          4  properties, there must be an insistent that

          5  project-basing be reissued at foreclosure.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, look, I'm

          7  going to conclude with this: I don't disagree with

          8  you. I'd love to be a Pollyanna all my life, but I

          9  need to be real here. If they know that the Bond

         10  Amendment was necessary to create to protect those

         11  particular tenants, this is the reason why the

         12  philosophy of protecting come in place, and it has

         13  to do with accommodation and the loss. Then if you

         14  know if seniors and disabled people need a special

         15  accommodation, need a special protection, you create

         16  the Bond Amendment and then you don't apply the

         17  amendment to the buildings where the majority of

         18  live, I have to believe that it's pure cynicism and

         19  that it's on purpose to fool tenants that on one

         20  hand the federal government is creating policies to

         21  protect them, but on the other hand it's baloney,

         22  because they don't put those amendments and those

         23  laws where they live where they get affected by it.

         24  And it's important for me to sit here and denounce

         25  that, and to make that clear to see if Congress
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          2  begin putting these laws where they really belong.

          3  That it's not simply in certain buildings, but

          4  across the board where people with disabilities and

          5  seniors live in Section 8 housing.

          6                 MS. LESSY: You're right. And the sad

          7  thing is that HUD right now has the legal authority

          8  to be reissuing project-based Section 8 contracts

          9  for every single building that it's foreclosing on.

         10  It has that power right now. It chooses not to.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: It's

         12  unfortunate.

         13                 MS. LESSY: Right. It's unfortunate

         14  that Congress has to legislate the Department of

         15  Housing and Urban Development to take preservation

         16  seriously.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         18                 Thank you very much.

         19                 MS. LESSY: Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Ladies, wait. I

         21  just wanted to make sure, 14 buildings have been

         22  identified to foreclose? No, you had made reference

         23  to 14 buildings; what is the status?

         24                 MS. LEVY: Some type of enforcement

         25  actions. What we're finding is that it may be
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          2  forcing the owner to prepay his mortgage, forcing

          3  the owner to terminate his contract or a foreclosure

          4  possibility. And in some cases they get worked out.

          5  It's very hard, because of the lack of information

          6  that HUD gives both to advocates and the community

          7  and to tenants, these things change on a dime, and

          8  we're just constantly chasing after it trying to

          9  find out what's what.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And in your chase

         11  you have identified where they are?

         12                 MS. LEVY: We happen to know of two

         13  that are --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Out of 14?

         15                 MS. LEVY: Yes, two of those 14 that

         16  we identified as targeted for enforcement are ending

         17  up on the auction block. One is on May 17th and one

         18  is on June 22nd so far. There could be more.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         20  very much.

         21                 I just wanted to ask that I noticed

         22  for some ununderstandable reason my name is not

         23  listed as a sponsor for this bill.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Oh, we will

         25  correct that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

          3  very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And I just wanted

          5  to for the record, you had made reference to Intro.

          6  186, but you didn't make reference to Reso 289,

          7  which is the purpose of this hearing. So, I just

          8  want you to --

          9                 MS. LEVY: We are all highly, highly,

         10  highly in favor of Resolution 289.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you.

         12                 MS. LESSY: Absolutely. Thank you very

         13  much for the resolution.

         14                 MS. DAVIDSON: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And we conclude

         16  this panel to move on to the next.

         17                 I'd like to ask Deloris Morris of

         18  Gates Patchen Housing. Nadiyah Abduullah. And I'm

         19  sorry if I'm mispronouncing this. From Gates-Patchen

         20  Housing. And Reverend Melvin Davis of Gates-Patchen

         21  Housing.

         22                 Are we ready? State your name if it's

         23  not part of your testimony. Thank you.

         24                 MS. MORRIS: My name is Deloris

         25  Morris. I'm a tenant leader at Gates-Patchen
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          2  Housing.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I apologize for

          4  mispronouncing your name.

          5                 MS. ABDULLAH: My name is Nadiyah

          6  Abdullah. I'm also a tenant leader at Gates Patchen

          7  Housing.

          8                 REVEREND DAVIS: My name is Reverend

          9  Melvin L. Davis, in support of Gates-Patchen

         10  Housing. Community Alert, We're All In This Together

         11  Organization.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Each of you have a

         13  testimony, or just one? Two? Wonderful. Please

         14  begin.

         15                 MS. MORRIS: My name is Deloris Morris

         16  and I have been a resident of Gates-Patchen Housing

         17  apartments for 14 years.

         18                 We are currently tenant leaders

         19  fighting desperately to save our homes.

         20                 Our building has been a project-based

         21  Section 8 contract and a HUD insured mortgage. When

         22  I first moved in the conditions were still nice and

         23  we were still getting services. At the time the

         24  tenants were very well organized, there were no

         25  drugs on the block, and we didn't have anything to
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          2  worry about.

          3                 Six years ago the management changed

          4  and everything went downhill. The new management

          5  came in threatening us with evictions, charging us

          6  for using our community space, and we were just paid

          7  our rent and lived there under his thumb.

          8                 We stopped getting services so we

          9  called HUD to the meeting on Gates-Patchen site with

         10  the management. At the meeting we were informed that

         11  the services was stopped because they were punishing

         12  the management for misappropriations of funds.

         13                 Instead of switching management

         14  companies they left us there without sufficient

         15  money to operate. We told HUD you're not punishing

         16  the management, you're punishing us. For whatever

         17  reason, HUD never was able to get rid of the

         18  management or the owner, but we continue to suffer.

         19                 Four years ago, HUD did a physical at

         20  Gates-Patchen Housing and we got a 12 on a 100 point

         21  scale. So we organized the rent strike, went to

         22  court, the judge ordered management to improve, gave

         23  us a couple of refrigerators, stoves and some

         24  cabinets, and at the next inspection we got a 14.

         25                 In October of 2003, we all got
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          2  letters in mail saying that our building was in

          3  foreclosure, and that's when we began, and we were

          4  going to auction and they would let us know at a

          5  later date. The people were afraid of losing their

          6  homes. They still are afraid of losing their homes.

          7  Then we got together and we met Tenants and

          8  Neighbors and also we met UHAB. Together we decided

          9  we wanted to stay project-based Section 8, and we

         10  decided it was time for us to own our own building.

         11  We can manage it, we can own it, we have something

         12  to leave our children.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you,

         15  Deloris.

         16                 MS. ABDULLAH: Madam Chairperson and

         17  Council members. Thank you for allowing our

         18  testimonies.

         19                 My name again is Miss Nadiyah

         20  Abdullah. My family and I have lived in the

         21  community for over 40 years. I resided at

         22  Gates-Patchen Housing for 24 of the 40 years. In

         23  October, our building received a notice of

         24  foreclosure. I felt that this would be my home at

         25  least until I decided to leave, however, this
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          2  doesn't seem to be my decision anymore. After being

          3  betrayed by management and HUD, the tenants became

          4  tenant leaders and informed to help with the help of

          5  Tenants and Neighbors and UHAB. Through this union

          6  we were introduced to UHAB who has been helping us

          7  diligently along the way.

          8                 Working closely with UHAB and

          9  Congressman Townes' office and Senator Charles

         10  Schumer, we have come to learn that the purchase

         11  price for our building is 1.4 million with a rehab

         12  cost of 6 million. Meaning that it would be

         13  ridiculous for anyone to try to purchase our

         14  buildings at an auction that was scheduled,

         15  originally scheduled for May 5th, however, due to

         16  unknown forces and unexplained reasons, we're now

         17  moved to May 17th. We're still left to sit, wait and

         18  wonder and be scared about the future of our

         19  building. Haven't we suffered enough?

         20                 For the past several months we've

         21  been chasing away speculators who claimed that they

         22  want to make the building nice for us.

         23                 Not only are we tired of chasing away

         24  these speculators, we're very angry that these

         25  people have the tenants personal information, which
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          2  is a violation of our privacy. How did they get the

          3  information? We're not looking for profit. We're

          4  looking for affordable homes and some peace of mind.

          5                 Unlike these speculators and

          6  slumlords that are trying to chase us away from our

          7  homes, they want to raise the rents and push out the

          8  low-income families, elderly and handicapped

          9  included. We feel that the auction would allow

         10  another slumlord to buy our building and eventually

         11  force us out.

         12                 The majority of tenants are Section 8

         13  based tenants. We have seniors and disabled people

         14  in the building that will not have any place to go

         15  and are very afraid of losing their homes and their

         16  subsidies. We're just looking for an affordable and

         17  decent place to live. We deserve it.

         18                 So far the people wanting to purchase

         19  the development are stating that we're going to make

         20  it nice. Is that all we need after HUD has failed

         21  us? Who is betraying us?

         22                 You don't have the tenants' best

         23  interest at heart. It's time for us to take back our

         24  home and our community and all we're asking for is a

         25  fighting chance.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you

          4  for your testimony.

          5                 Council member, you have any

          6  questions at this moment? Council Member Perkins?

          7  No.

          8                 When was the first time that you

          9  learned about the situation of your building, and

         10  how did you learn about it?

         11                 MS. MORRIS: You mean the foreclosure?

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes.

         13                 MS. MORRIS: In October, in the mail.

         14  By the mail.

         15                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: How is it

         16  that you got that information in the mail? Who sent

         17  it to you?

         18                 MS. MORRIS: HUD sent it to us.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, HUD.

         20                 MS. MORRIS: HUD sent it to us. And we

         21  have been in touch with New York-based HUD

         22  constantly for years, okay? And I feel the only

         23  thing we were being was tricked.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then in

         25  October you got a notification in the mail, and when
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          2  you said you got notification, I'm assuming that

          3  every tenant in the building that had the list

          4  received notification?

          5                 MS. MORRIS: Not every tenant. Not

          6  every tenant.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: No. Do you

          8  know why?

          9                 MS. MORRIS: Because that's HUD's way

         10  of doing this. They don't inform everybody. They

         11  inform a few, and if they feel that we are not

         12  really together, then we're not going to do anything

         13  about it. We'll sit back and just let it happen.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then when

         15  you received this notification, at the time did you

         16  have a tenant association?

         17                 MS. ABDULLAH: Yes, we did.

         18                 MS. MORRIS: Yes, we did.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: You did.

         20                 And that tenant association was

         21  meeting regularly? Or that tenant association was

         22  not? Did you count with some support for the tenant

         23  association in place?

         24                 MS. ABDULLAH: We had just recently

         25  actually had a new election, so we did in fact have
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          2  a new tenant association president and body in place

          3  when we received the foreclosure.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And what

          5  kind of support do you have for that tenant

          6  association?

          7                 MS. ABDULLAH: The tenant association

          8  is behind us 100 percent.

          9                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: No, you

         10  misunderstood my question.

         11                 MS. ABDULLAH: Oh.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I want to

         13  know if you received any support for that tenant

         14  association from independent body from HUD, from the

         15  City of New York?

         16                 MS. ABDULLAH: No, Ma'am.

         17                 MS. MORRIS: Never. Never.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: From any

         19  other organization in the neighborhood that

         20  supported you?

         21                 MS. ABDULLAH: Never.

         22                 MS. MORRIS: Never.

         23                 MS. ABDULLAH: The most report we have

         24  received was from Tenants and Neighbors.

         25                 MS. MORRIS: And UHAB.
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          2                 MS. ABDULLAH: That's it.

          3                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then you

          4  have your tenant association in place created by the

          5  tenants themselves, and the support that you get is

          6  only coming from --

          7                 MS. ABDULLAH: The tenants.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: The

          9  tenants. And neighbors.

         10                 MS. ABDULLAH: That's right.

         11                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And the

         12  tenants in the building.

         13                 MS. ABDULLAH: That's correct.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: In the area

         15  where you are, are housing organizations in there?

         16                 MS. ABDULLAH: You can say --

         17                 MS. MORRIS: Bushwick information is

         18  there on Bushwick and Gates.

         19                 MS. ABDULLAH: And then we have

         20  Miracle Makers.

         21                 MS. MORRIS: We have Miracle Makers.

         22                 We're supporting ourselves.

         23                 MS. ABDULLAH: Right.

         24                 MS. MORRIS: Let me just keep saying

         25  that. We're supporting ourselves, Tenants and
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          2  Neighbors supports us, and UHAB supports us. And

          3  we're doing the fight, nobody else.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Okay, I

          5  understand your answers. I am asking you these

          6  questions for specific reasons.

          7                 MS. ABDULLAH: I understand.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Which have

          9  to do with me comprehending what is the transparency

         10  of the process in which tenants who live in this

         11  building learn about what these buildings are about?

         12  Regulations, obligations, rights, how the law

         13  changed regularly at the federal level; I am

         14  interested to know.

         15                 MS. MORRIS: Tenants and Neighbors and

         16  UHAB.

         17                 MS. ABDULLAH: In the past it's been

         18  like pulling teeth. I think it was Ms. Lessy that

         19  said they do not inform the tenants of anything

         20  that's changing, any of the rules, regulations, we

         21  get no information. And trying to receive the

         22  information from HUD officials, the local office,

         23  it's like pulling teeth. It was like the top secret,

         24  we can't give you that kind of information.

         25                 They did send us a book on our rights
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          2  as a HUD recipient, but that was it.

          3                 MS. MORRIS: But that's it.

          4                 MS. ABDULLAH: That was it.

          5                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then your

          6  relationship as tenants with HUD locally is a

          7  relationship that is not characterized by you being

          8  informed, by you being invited to learn.

          9                 MS. ABDULLAH: Exactly.

         10                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: By you

         11  being given willingly information.

         12                 MS. ABDULLAH: Exactly.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: When you

         14  request information you had to fight for it?

         15                 MS. ABDULLAH: Yes, we did.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: And you

         17  cannot get it in an easy fashion.

         18                 MS. MORRIS: Unless we are hostile.

         19                 MS. ABDULLAH: Yes.

         20                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Unless you

         21  are hostile.

         22                 MS. MORRIS: That's right. That's the

         23  only way we get it.

         24                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you.

         25                 I want to change now the question to
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          2  a second aspect that I am interested here.

          3                 When you learned about the

          4  foreclosure in October, can you describe to me what

          5  you did?

          6                 MS. ABDULLAH: The original

          7  foreclosure, there was a letter and they, in the

          8  letter, explained to us that we really shouldn't

          9  have anything to worry about; however, if you do

         10  have concerns or complaints, do call this number,

         11  which was to the Atlanta, Georgia office. And, so,

         12  that --

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Atlanta,

         14  Georgia office of what?

         15                 MS. ABDULLAH: HUD.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: HUD, okay.

         17                 MS. ABDULLAH: These are the people

         18  initiating the, beginning the foreclosure process.

         19                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Yes.

         20                 MS. ABDULLAH: So we spoke to a Mr.

         21  Melvin there. He told us that we didn't have

         22  anything to worry about, that our building was in

         23  foreclosure, that it would be sold, and we didn't

         24  have to be concerned about losing our apartment.

         25                 MS. MORRIS: That they're going to
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          2  make it nice for us, and affordable.

          3                 MS. ABDULLAH: Right.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then this

          5  is what has been said to you as soon as you learned?

          6                 MS. ABDULLAH: Yes.

          7                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I mean,

          8  after that, what did you proceed to do? Having these

          9  calls made and being told that we don't need to

         10  worry about it?

         11                 MS. MORRIS: We knew that we were in

         12  trouble, and we went and got Tenants and Neighbors.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then you

         14  reach out to Tenants and Neighbors and begin

         15  organizing?

         16                 MS. MORRIS: Right.

         17                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: As you

         18  begin organizing internally, how difficult it was

         19  for you to get clarity in regard of the process of

         20  the foreclosure?

         21                 MS. ABDULLAH: Well, it's technical.

         22  It's a lot of things that we don't understand,

         23  because that's not our area of expertise. So, a lot

         24  of words were being thrown around, a lot of jargon.

         25  It was just a big mix-up because we've had our
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          2  management company replaced, so they were very

          3  tight-lipped about any information.

          4                 They never informed the tenants that

          5  we were in the process of foreclosure. We were just

          6  left to receive a letter out of the blue stating

          7  that our buildings were in foreclosure and call this

          8  number to speak to Mr. Melvin. It's when Tenants and

          9  Neighbors came in and started to help us organize

         10  that we were beginning to understand a little bit

         11  more about the foreclosure process.

         12                 I'm still not completely sure, but

         13  I'm very well informed.

         14                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then when

         15  you said to me, the three of you, that if you would

         16  have not had access to Tenants and Neighbors, or to

         17  UHAB, suppose that they don't exist, suppose that

         18  they didn't went to your building, would you say

         19  that you wouldn't have the capacity on your own to

         20  go to the Internet and to access the information

         21  that allegedly is there for tenants to know what

         22  happened in the building where they live?

         23                 MS. ABDULLAH: Yes, Ma'am. The

         24  capacity is definitely there, but the different

         25  avenues that we need to go down to retrieve certain
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          2  types of information, we have not had any type of

          3  working relationship with the HUD New York Office

          4  for a very long time, they totally turned their

          5  backs on our prize. And, so, to try to call them up,

          6  as we did, the New York Office, speak to our

          7  representative, that representative building, we

          8  were still given the cold shoulder, oh, don't worry

          9  about it, everything is okay. In the meantime, so,

         10  no, if we did not have UHAB and Tenants and

         11  Neighbors, and we could go and surf the Internet,

         12  try to get as much information as we possibly can,

         13  but they have really gone out of their way to help

         14  us be very well prepared for what was coming in our

         15  direction.

         16                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Are you

         17  telling me that the information that is in the

         18  Internet is easily understood, is easy to

         19  comprehend? That's what you're telling me?

         20                 MS. MORRIS: No, it's not. No, it's

         21  not.

         22                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: I just need

         23  to understand if the technical assistance that is

         24  provided to you is what makes the difference in

         25  regard of you understanding what is happening in
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          2  here?

          3                 MS. MORRIS: No, it's not.

          4                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: No, it's

          5  not.

          6                 MS. ABDULLAH: Not for her. I'm okay

          7  with it.

          8                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: For you

          9  it's okay. But I'm talking about the population of

         10  the building in general.

         11                 MS. ABDULLAH: Yes.

         12                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Perhaps you

         13  understood, but I want to understand if all of the

         14  tenants in there you would say that this is a

         15  process that for any tenant in there, in the level

         16  of education that they may have --

         17                 MS. ABDULLAH: No, Ma'am.

         18                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Would they

         19  be able to understand this?

         20                 MS. ABDULLAH: No, they would not.

         21                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Then as we

         22  stand here today, the process that they have for all

         23  this is obscure?

         24                 MS. ABDULLAH: Yes.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON LOPEZ: Thank you.
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          2                 MS. ABDULLAH: You're welcome.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you, Council

          4  Member Lopez. I was just taking a little break.

          5                 I wanted to just take the opportunity

          6  to thank you, first of all, for being here. We need

          7  to hear from more tenants like yourselves, and I

          8  understand that your wish of becoming a homeowner of

          9  your unit is the way to go. How feasible is that for

         10  us to get to that point is what we're trying to

         11  figure out.

         12                 When is the date of auction for your

         13  building?

         14                 MS. ABDULLAH: May 17th.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: May 17th. And have

         16  you reached out to your congressional member that

         17  represents your building?

         18                 MS. ABDULLAH: Yes, we have.

         19                 MS. MORRIS: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And who is that?

         21                 MS. ABDULLAH: Congressman Ted Townes.

         22                 MS. MORRIS: We even have Senator

         23  Schumer on board. We've had the assistance of

         24  Senator Montgomery. We've reached out to mostly all

         25  of our locals.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I also wanted to

          3  find out, has the Congressman initiated a moratorium

          4  for the selling of your building?

          5                 MS. ABDULLAH: No.

          6                 MS. MORRIS: No.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And just to be

          8  fair, have you asked for a moratorium?

          9                 MS. ABDULLAH: No, Ma'am.

         10                 MS. MORRIS: No.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Okay.

         12                 And I don't know if that would be

         13  doable, but considering that there are so many

         14  loopholes that you have tried your best, working

         15  with the advocates that can become the specialists,

         16  but need more time to allow themselves to become

         17  experts that are very much a resource, so that

         18  upcoming future foreclosures can get the same

         19  assistance.

         20                 You're probably leading the pathway

         21  towards that, and we want to see if perhaps calling

         22  for a moratorium on HUD would be the solution as a

         23  temporary way of slowing down the process to be able

         24  to work with the City and see if we can come up with

         25  better packaging, in order to deal with certain
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          2  situations such as yours and others.

          3                 I'd like to recommend that if you can

          4  speak to your congressional person, Congressman Ed

          5  Townes, asking him for this moratorium, it would

          6  need to be done immediately considering you only

          7  have two weeks.

          8                 I heard you loud and clear, as far as

          9  your wishes of becoming homeowners, and I'm

         10  enthusiastic of that because I believe

         11  wholeheartedly in that. Continue staying in touch

         12  with UHAB, we're going to be working with them, and

         13  this is just ongoing dialogue. I didn't want you

         14  feeling like I stepped out of the room and forgot

         15  about you. So, I needed to make sure that you heard

         16  from me what our commitment is.

         17                 And just for the record, I didn't

         18  hear you mention Reso 289, in support or against.

         19                 MS. ABDULLAH: In support of.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Excellent. I

         21  appreciate your support.

         22                 And Council Member Perkins, you had a

         23  few questions?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I just want

         25  to thank you for your presentation and the courage
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          2  and perseverance that you are exhibiting in terms of

          3  what your particular development is concerned. I

          4  know how much of a struggle it is and, you know,

          5  it's commendable that you're taking it up. It's

          6  something that you should not have to do, under any

          7  circumstances. It almost blames the victim, it

          8  almost makes you feel as if you did something wrong

          9  to be in this awful predicament, and that's the

         10  curse of this whole process.

         11                 But, you know, I'm on this register

         12  and vote and get it political bandwagon, you know?

         13                 MS. MORRIS: We are too.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, I'm glad

         15  to hear that. I'm glad to hear that. And so I think,

         16  you know, I just want to put that out there, to

         17  commend you again, if that's where you're headed.

         18                 There are obviously a lot of folks in

         19  the same boat who are not necessarily on the same

         20  page that you are on, and I think that there is an

         21  awfully powerful potential, organizing potential for

         22  folks in the same boat to register and vote and sort

         23  of those of us that have the privilege of

         24  representing you will be able to hear you.

         25                 MS. ABDULLAH: Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Especially on

          3  the federal level. And I'm not threatening any

          4  Congressperson or US Senator or any other person in

          5  that regard, I'm just saying this is the process

          6  that very often makes the difference and there are

          7  important elections coming up.

          8                 I meant to ask this of the former

          9  panel with respect to trying to bring some of these

         10  folks together, some of these leaders like yourself

         11  together, to begin to sort of as much as possible

         12  politicize it. Is any such efforts being made that

         13  you know of?

         14                 MS. MORRIS: Other tenant leaders,

         15  since we've been in foreclosure, have been reaching

         16  out to me, calling me at home.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Have you

         18  heard from folks from Enis Francis Houses in Harlem?

         19                 MS. MORRIS: No.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: No, you have?

         21  And what about from. St. Phillips on the Park?

         22                 MS. ABDULLAH: I've met both of them

         23  at a function Tenants and Neighbors had just

         24  recently. And we have spoken.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. Well,
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          2  very good. Let us help if we can, okay?

          3                 MS. ABDULLAH: Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Because it's

          5  very, very important and I think something can be

          6  done. I don't think we have to wait for the next

          7  generation for something to get done.

          8                 MS. ABDULLAH: Right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: We may be

         10  able to do something by next election, if we do it

         11  right.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And how many units

         14  is your building?

         15                 MS. MORRIS: A hundred and four.

         16  Eighty-seven occupied, though.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Well, I appreciate

         18  your testimony, your advocacy on behalf of

         19  yourselves, it's true empowerment --

         20                 MS. MORRIS: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA:-- In every sense

         22  of the word. And we hope to continue working

         23  together.

         24                 MS. MORRIS: Thank you.

         25                 MS. ABDULLAH: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Our next panel is

          3  Marie Christopher from Stanton Street Tenant

          4  Association; Deborah Gonzalez from Cooper Square

          5  Housing; and Maizie Torres from the Lower East Side

          6  Tenant Association.

          7                 Whenever you're ready. Just state

          8  your name. If it's not part of your testimony

          9  remember to say so before you speak, and the time is

         10  yours.

         11                 MS. CHRISTOPHER: Okay. My name is

         12  Marie Christopher, and I am the President of a

         13  Tenant Association of a Section 8 based project

         14  located on the Lower East Side of 171 units whose

         15  contract is due to expire this month, 2004.

         16                 That's right, the time has run out

         17  for us completely. And a decision on its disposition

         18  has not been made yet.

         19                 But I'd like to take a moment to give

         20  you a little history of 210 Stanton Street. From the

         21  Years 1984 to 1990, it was a struggle to live in

         22  that building, because it was full of drug dealers

         23  and there was crime on the streets. And the tenants

         24  and myself, we took it upon ourselves to clean up

         25  our building and our neighborhood by making that
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          2  very special police partnership with our local

          3  precincts. And that's the only reason the building

          4  has stayed clean and crime free all these years.

          5                 I feel like I'm a victim of my own

          6  success, because now the neighborhood is clean and

          7  safe and a nice place to live, the contract is due

          8  to expire this month, and the landlord has the right

          9  to pull the building out of the program.

         10                 Unfortunately, for us, the time has

         11  run out and we desperately need the City of New York

         12  to really take a look at how to preserve this

         13  housing.

         14                 I want to thank this Committee for

         15  taking up this calling and thank you for the

         16  resolution, because the difficulties I had on trying

         17  to acquire information about my building during this

         18  difficult time was unbelievable.

         19                 I wrote a Freedom of Information Act

         20  to the Contract Administrator, asking them for the

         21  names of the general partner and the limited

         22  partner. They sent me back a reply. The limited

         23  partner -- I mean, the general partner and the

         24  management employees, the manager, the managing

         25  agent, the super. That's not what I asked for. So,
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          2  then I called them up and I made an appointment to

          3  go into HDC and look at the records myself. I come

          4  to find out that the limited partners are

          5  incorporated and the general partners are

          6  incorporated, so the only thing you could possibly

          7  get is two names out of this.

          8                 So, this resolution will definitely

          9  be helpful. But, unfortunately, for me I need

         10  something a little more, and you have a good remedy

         11  already been introduced, and that is Intro. 186, the

         12  tenement empowerment bill, that would give my

         13  building the right to purchase. It would stop the

         14  landlord from opting out arbitrarily. It would give

         15  us a chance to give you time to study this program a

         16  lot more comprehensively and do what is necessary.

         17  But we need that time, we need you to help us to buy

         18  time. That's the only way. We need something passed

         19  that will shut this process down of opting out

         20  arbitrarily until the City of New York can come up

         21  with better solutions, if this is not the one.

         22                 I'm not saying that Intro. 186 is the

         23  answer to Section 8, but it's a very good start, and

         24  with the trust fund that's being set up to help buy

         25  the building, tenants being able to own their own
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          2  building and learn how to run their own building is

          3  going to require the City of New York supporting the

          4  non-for-profits that helped now educate Section 8 on

          5  Section 8, like New York State Tenants and

          6  Neighbors, like UHAB, they're going to need your

          7  financial support in helping tenants to understand

          8  and use Intro. 186 properly. And that's the only way

          9  we're going to shut this down temporarily, at least

         10  buy us time in which to study new and different ways

         11  to preserve our Section 8.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Can you sum up? Or

         13  were those your last words?

         14                 MS. CHRISTOPHER: Those were my last

         15  words.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Okay.

         17                 MS. CHRISTOPHER: And do you have any

         18  questions?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Oh, I will, but

         20  let's let the rest of your panel, so that at least

         21  each person gets the equal amount of time.

         22                 MS. GONZALEZ: Hello. My name is

         23  Deborah Gonzalez. I live at 10 Stanton Street, Delma

         24  Verda Houses, Cooper Square. The same owners of

         25  Pablo Neuva owns my building. My building will be up
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          2  for renewal in 2005.

          3                 We have, the problem -- not so much a

          4  problem, what we had is that we have 147 apartments,

          5  47 are Chinese percentage, 40 percent is Hispanic,

          6  and five percent white, five percent black. Now,

          7  when Margarita mentioned the educational process,

          8  it's not. People are not understanding. You can't go

          9  out and get the information, because to me HUD

         10  doesn't play by the same rules. There's rules and

         11  regulations that we have to follow, but we only get

         12  to follow them upon our signing on the -- what is

         13  it, the recertification date. So, it's like you can

         14  go to these computers and access, but if you're

         15  Spanish you don't understand, if you're Chinese you

         16  don't understand.

         17                 In my buildings we are faced with the

         18  problems of I belong to an ad hoc committee, we've

         19  had four different tenant associations. I think in

         20  my building a lot of time the people think that

         21  someone in a white horse is going to come down and

         22  save the day. There is no day. The day is today. We

         23  all need to understand that since we've lived in

         24  these Section 8 apartments we have been under a

         25  20-year shadow. You know, within 20 years we're
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          2  going to have to move out of our apartment. And a

          3  lot of people in my building say they didn't even

          4  know that within that 20 years was almost up.

          5                 So, for us to come out and reach out

          6  to these committees, and I am a registered voter,

          7  Mr. Perkins. He's not here. I am a registered voter,

          8  and when we registered to vote, sometime our elected

          9  officials don't back us up the way they say.

         10                 So, this Committee is needed. This

         11  Committee is needed in so many ways, because the

         12  reason I'm here is just to put a face to the name,

         13  to the building, to the community, because we stayed

         14  in this community when nobody else wanted it, and I

         15  think in a lot of ways that these buildings were

         16  built in this community so within 20 years they

         17  could come back and take the community.

         18                 I live off of Houston Prince, that's

         19  a very nice neighborhood. Everybody in my

         20  neighborhood tells me I will pay anything to live

         21  here. I paid with my life in a lot of ways to stay

         22  here. I have a child who is 24, I have a daughter

         23  who is 18, who graduated from high school, thank you

         24  very much, and I'm proud of her. But at the same

         25  time, for me to have to have fought for 20 years, it
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          2  was always a fight, always going on, always going to

          3  somewhere just to save our apartments when the

          4  original lease clearly stated for us that after 20

          5  years we would be able to buy our apartment.

          6                 Now, since the building was resold

          7  and sold and sold, now they're saying that we can't.

          8                 So, I just want to let this Committee

          9  know that we need your help, we need your support,

         10  because there's faces that's out here that you can

         11  see that this is a real problem. Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Very well done.

         13                 MS. TORRES: Hi. My name is Maizie

         14  Torres. I work in the Lower East Side at the

         15  Community-Based Organization, as well as I'm a

         16  tenant association president of Lower East Side

         17  Phase 1 and 2. And I just want to take out the time

         18  to thank the Committee for having this, and also to

         19  thank Margarita Lopez for helping us in our fight

         20  five years ago when we were fighting to have our

         21  contract renewed after 20 years. We won and we got

         22  five years in the Mark-Up-To-Market Program. Now

         23  we're back to the fight again, because in 2006 our

         24  contract is going to expire again and we are very

         25  concerned, because in 2005 we will be receiving our
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          2  one-year notice, telling us that our landlord will

          3  intend to opt out. And we are sure our landlord is

          4  going to opt out, because as we are aware of, today

          5  I received a call from one of the tenants asking me

          6  to go to one of our developments, and when I went

          7  there this morning, I noticed that our building, 199

          8  Avenue B, the ramp and the staircase and the door to

          9  the entrance of that building was completely knocked

         10  out.

         11                 So that means that the landlord is

         12  renovating and when I tried to call management to

         13  find out what was going on, I got nowhere.

         14                 So, I'm going to definitely get in

         15  contact with HUD to try to find out what is going

         16  on. But as we are aware, buildings are being

         17  renovated, and we have nine buildings, and we are

         18  concerned, because like I said, our contract is

         19  going to expire after five years, in 2006, and we

         20  will be getting that notice very soon.

         21                 So, I would just like Marie

         22  Christopher and Debbie, we have all worked together

         23  closely in the community, as well as with Lands End,

         24  we're all project-based Section 8's that are

         25  struggling to get together to continue this plight.
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          2  And as Debbie said, we're just tried to having to

          3  continue to fight and raise our children, I have

          4  four children and I'm trying to raise my children to

          5  work and continue to fight to have a place to live,

          6  and it's really hard and difficult when you're a

          7  single mother and Marie and Debbie all know, we've

          8  done it together, and here we go again doing it

          9  again another year.

         10                 So, thank you for taking the time to

         11  listen to us.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I just wanted to

         13  take a few moments to appreciate your testimonies.

         14  And, yes, you could not have said it better

         15  yourself, Deborah, this is about putting a face

         16  behind the name, behind the community, behind the

         17  building. And there is no magic day that's going to

         18  come and save everyone. If they don't start taking

         19  action now versus later, these are the consequences.

         20                 Twenty years crept up, and this is

         21  now the time and people are becoming barely aware.

         22  The purpose of this hearing is to do just that,

         23  educate, to begin the process of educating. In your

         24  case we don't have time.

         25                 Marie, unfortunately with your
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          2  building we're perhaps against a wall, but I do want

          3  to stress to you how important it is that you do the

          4  same, as I have advised Gates-Patchen, request a

          5  moratorium from your congressional representative.

          6  Because I would love to see if that would work. If

          7  we can buy time by just putting off this particular

          8  auction when it concerns your building.

          9                 MS. CHRISTOPHER: It's not an auction.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I see. I'm sorry.

         11                 MS. CHRISTOPHER: It's not an auction.

         12  It's a regular contract. The contract will be up.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Expiration.

         14                 MS. CHRISTOPHER: So, HUD has given

         15  him, or the Congress has given them the right to

         16  recoup the buildings, prepay the mortgage and take

         17  over the building and pull it out of the program or

         18  to go in the Market-To-Market.

         19                 Now, we are assuming and hoping that

         20  all the organizing and fighting that my building

         21  did, and they did a tremendous job. We contacted

         22  every public official, and I had two Councilpeople

         23  working for me at the same time, Margarita Lopez and

         24  Alan Gerson, okay? And hopefully all that effort

         25  will mean that now he's ready to take the deal and
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          2  renew. But it doesn't have to. I'm saying even with

          3  all that work that we did, the writing and the press

          4  conferences and the demonstration and everything, he

          5  could still say, no, I want my building. And only

          6  that bill can stop it. That's how important that

          7  bill becomes to me now.

          8                 If it's passed, my building

          9  qualifies, and we can make them an offer, we can

         10  shut down the process. He challenged it in court,

         11  the judge put the freeze on it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I wanted to ask

         13  just to be clear, yours is an opt-out; yours is a?

         14                 MS. GONZALEZ: It's the same owner.

         15  Mine is a year after hers.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Okay. But it's the

         17  same, it's opt-out?

         18                 MS. GONZALEZ: Opt-out.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And yours is

         20  opt-out as well?

         21                 MS. TORRES: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Okay.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Council Member

         24  Reyna, I just want to give you a piece of

         25  information and to everybody who is listening about
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          2  these three buildings. What is incredible is that

          3  these three buildings, not three buildings, because

          4  it's more than three buildings, these three

          5  projects, exist only and only because an

          6  organization that I used to be the president of

          7  called Lotus Planning Council (phonetic), put

          8  together these projects, and created this building

          9  from City-owned property, and because there were

         10  investors out there who wanted to create profit for

         11  themselves, we were able to bring the developers to

         12  benefit from the Section 8 program. They made money

         13  like going out like a bandit. The buildings that

         14  we're talking about were created by the community in

         15  City-owned property that were given to this

         16  developer in exchange of them building the housing

         17  for the tenancy in our community. That was the

         18  change.

         19                 Today they are this close, the

         20  investors, to make millions and millions of dollars

         21  out of City-owned property, that they got for

         22  nothing, because it was only in this change of them

         23  putting the money to create the housing. This is on

         24  a scandal, because we did not put in place

         25  conditions in which this landlord cannot get out of
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          2  the program when the property were City-owned

          3  property, period.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Deborah, I believe

          5  you had mentioned that in your original lease there

          6  was an option to buy for the tenant?

          7                 MS. GONZALEZ: Right. It was a 20-year

          8  lease.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: But due to --

         10                 MS. GONZALEZ: Selling of the owner --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: The purchase and

         12  sell of the particular ownerships, that has been

         13  diluted?

         14                 MS. GONZALEZ: Right.

         15                 I just want to say, and then you can

         16  say something.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Talk in the mic.

         18                 MS. GONZALEZ: I agree with Margarita

         19  that at this point when you write the proposals for

         20  these 20-year lease, you have to take in

         21  consideration, because 20 years is not a long time,

         22  and down the line all of us are here. And the

         23  building, there's another building that's going up

         24  right next door to mine, it's a 20/80 program.

         25  That's a 20-year lease. So, those people, a lot of
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          2  those people who just run and take these apartments,

          3  they're not knowing or understanding that within 20

          4  years, or within that 20 year you're constantly

          5  fighting to hold onto your home, not your apartment,

          6  because these are our homes. We have no place else

          7  to go. And just like Margarita said, this City needs

          8  reversification (phonetic), meaning low income,

          9  middle income, and high income. It can't just be

         10  about people who have money.

         11                 MS. CHRISTOPHER: No, I was going to

         12  say -- correction. The original owners of our

         13  building, Kenneth Glitt Corporation, the Glitt

         14  Corporation, messed up so much on the running of the

         15  building, building was in the auction block in 1989

         16  for back taxes. The City was going to foreclose on

         17  it. And when he sold the building, we lost the

         18  original contract and the rights of the right to

         19  first refusal. That's how that went.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I see. Thank you

         21  for that clarification, Marie.

         22                 Unless you have any further

         23  questions, I appreciate your testimony.

         24                 MS. CHRISTOPHER: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you. Keep up
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          2  the good work.

          3                 I'm going to call Jerome Sahlt,

          4  Cynthia Howell, and I believe this is Samantha, or

          5  Samanthia Thompson.

          6                 If you can just state your name

          7  before your testimony. Mr. Sahlt goes first. And

          8  during -- Sohlt is it?

          9                 MS. SAHLT: Like pepper.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Okay. And after we

         11  finish with your testimonies, if there's any

         12  question and answer, if you can state your name,

         13  because this is being recorded and they need to

         14  distinguish the voices. Thank you.

         15                 MR. SAHLT: My name is Jerome Sahlt.

         16  Do you want my address? Is that necessary?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Only if you wish.

         18                 MR. SAHLT: I don't wish.

         19                 As far as I'm concerned, I don't know

         20  -- I'm not knowledgeable like you people are

         21  knowledgeable about facts. I go right to the bottom

         22  line --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Speak into the

         24  mic, Mr. Sahlt.

         25                 MR. SAHLT: Excuse me. I go right to
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          2  the bottom line. The bottom line is that I don't

          3  believe that HUD in Washington knows what HUD in New

          4  York is doing.

          5                 Consequently, when new tenants come

          6  in, they get approved by the private owner of the

          7  building. All right, I will state my building. It's

          8  206 East 31st Street. It's a HUD-subsidized

          9  building. It has approximately 72 apartments, of

         10  which maybe 68 or 70 are occupied, and it has a

         11  beautiful courtyard in the back, of which several

         12  people take advantage of, including myself. I love

         13  to sunbathe. Doesn't look it.

         14                 Don't judge a book by its cover,

         15  because I look pretty good to you, and to you and to

         16  you and to you, but I'm not. I'm sick. I take 12

         17  medications a day, six in the morning, six at night,

         18  for depression, for anxiety, actually if I keep

         19  worrying about this, because I don't want to count

         20  on my brother or my cousin who have a lot of money.

         21  I just paid off my footstone and I'm paying off my

         22  cemetery, from $3,500, I have another $412 to go,

         23  because many times for dinner I'll have Wheaties and

         24  skim milk. I save every penny I can.

         25                 Okay, that's enough of me. I believe
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          2  that a landlord, a potential landlord should be

          3  checked out carefully. The original owner of the

          4  building I live in, his name is Herman Langfer

          5  (phonetic) and his stepson was Douglas Wasserman. He

          6  had a son, but his son didn't want to run the

          7  building. Douglas Wasserman ran the building, from

          8  1979 up until 1997, which was 18 years. At that

          9  point he was brought to bankruptcy court in

         10  Brooklyn. I have all the papers here, I have

         11  everything here, I can prove everything I say. I

         12  have the file here. A gentleman, and I give him the

         13  benefit of the doubt by calling him a gentleman, got

         14  him off the hook for five and a half hundred

         15  thousand dollars. The building was a gift from

         16  Herman Langfer (phonetic) from his --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Mr. Sahlt, I'm

         18  sorry, the time clock --

         19                 MR. SAHLT: Okay.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: -- Is indicating

         21  that you're done with your testimony. If you can

         22  just sum up.

         23                 MR. SAHLT: Okay.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: So that I can give

         25  you that opportunity at least.
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          2                 MR. SAHLT: Okay.

          3                 What I'm trying to say is that

          4  Douglas Wasserman served a sentence in jail for

          5  being a slum landlord in the Bronx. Now, shouldn't

          6  HUD be a little bit particular who is going to own

          7  the building? Because HUD certainly doesn't want to

          8  own it, okay?

          9                 Now, this guy who owns it now, he

         10  brags about owning 46 buildings in New York and

         11  having a quarter of a billion dollars in liquid

         12  assets.

         13                 Okay, that's one phase of it. And on

         14  the surface it looks good because the building is

         15  well kept, but he isn't what he pretends to be.

         16                 Now, back in August, August 20th --

         17  may I present this to you?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: The

         19  Sergeant-At-Arms.

         20                 MR. SAHLT: This is important.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Yes. Mr. Sahlt,

         22  you at the end can tell me if you're in favor or in

         23  opposition of Reso 289.

         24                 MR. SAHLT: I don't know what it is

         25  really.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Okay, because you

          3  just put here in opposition.

          4                 MR. SAHLT: Well, I'm in opposition of

          5  -- I don't know, you'll have to clarify it and I'll

          6  give you a fast answer.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: The resolution is

          8  calling upon the United States Department of Housing

          9  and Urban Development, HUD, to create and implement

         10  policies that provide greater transparency regarding

         11  the status of buildings whose Section 8 status is

         12  set to expire, or which have been labeled distressed

         13  by HUD. And, so, the same thing you're saying is

         14  what we're trying to introduce as a solution.

         15                 MR. SAHLT: Okay, here is what I have

         16  to say.

         17                 I think there are hundreds and

         18  hundreds of owners and management companies, like

         19  Neworth, like Douglas Ellerman (phonetic), that

         20  would give anything to manage a building like HUD or

         21  to own a building like HUD, because it's gravy, it's

         22  easy money, they get their money one, two, three.

         23  Not to have somebody unreliable that owns the

         24  building now. I think HUD should be a little bit

         25  particular who owns the building, especially if the
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          2  former owner has a jail sentence.

          3                 Now, the piece of paper you have, the

          4  owner at that date, it stated August 3rd, we were

          5  notified August 3rd --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Mr. Sahlt, I need

          7  to give your colleagues here an opportunity.

          8                 MR. SAHLT: One minute? Will you give

          9  me --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: You've had more

         11  than one minute already.

         12                 MR. SAHLT: Can you give me one minute

         13  more?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thirty seconds.

         15                 MR. SAHLT: All right.

         16                 The owner wants to break up the

         17  courtyard and make it a medical facility. A medical

         18  facility for who? Now, if it's going to be a medical

         19  facility, what doctors are going to participate in

         20  what groups? Is it going to be Oxford? Is it going

         21  to be Aetna? What good is having a medical facility

         22  if the people are not covered by these particular

         23  doctors?

         24                 So, in other words, everything is

         25  done in such a way that nobody knows if they have
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          2  any kind of protection, period.

          3                 I mean, if he's going to build it,

          4  I'm not going to -- I can't go there if I have to

          5  pay for it. I have --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: You're looking for

          7  accountability.

          8                 MR. SAHLT: I have an HMO.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Sahlt.

         11                 MR. SAHLT: Thank you very --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I appreciate the

         13  time you took to come down.

         14                 MR. SAHLT: Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Ms. Howell.

         16                 MS. HOWELL: Good afternoon.

         17                 Thank you for giving me the

         18  opportunity to speak.

         19                 My name is Cynthia Howell, and I have

         20  been a tenant at the Hudson Piers Rehab Stage 1

         21  located at 596 Riverside Drive since 1994. I would

         22  like to make the Committee aware of some problems

         23  that the tenants at this property have been

         24  experiencing. As a single mother raising three, my

         25  home is very important to me. The project-based
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          2  Section 8 program was developed to provide safe

          3  affordable homes to families such as mine.

          4                 However, for the past several years,

          5  the apartment unit where I live would not qualify

          6  for safe or decent. The physical condition of the

          7  property leaves much to be desired. There are many

          8  repairs needed. Yet, when repairs are made, it's

          9  often by unlicensed individuals. Therefore, problems

         10  reoccur continuously.

         11                 HUD has devised the REACT inspection

         12  system to assess the condition of the properties.

         13  The last two REACT inspections at the property

         14  scored much higher than the plumbing problems, and

         15  rodent infestation would indicate that they should.

         16                 We would like HUD to have a greater

         17  transparency about the ways that they determine the

         18  building scores. We would also like more information

         19  about HUD, about why HUD has been so unresponsive to

         20  tenant reports of serious problems at the property

         21  over a period of years.

         22                 This unresponsiveness on the part of

         23  HUD and management has resulted in the City being

         24  forced to make emergency repairs in my apartment on

         25  multiple occasions.
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          2                 The management staff has a history of

          3  harassing tenants. There have been numerous problems

          4  with the superintendent on site. There have also

          5  been incidents between the super and various tenants

          6  that have resulted in verbal and physical violence

          7  and intimidation.

          8                 Many of these incidents have been

          9  documented with the police, yet he continues to the

         10  very day to be employed at the property.

         11                 The tenants demand to know why there

         12  has been no response from HUD. The Section 8

         13  contract was renewed at our property until 2008, but

         14  we believe that our homes are at risk, as a result

         15  of the mismanagement we witness at the property

         16  everyday.

         17                 This program provides important

         18  housing resources to families, but the owners of the

         19  property are not holding up to their end of the

         20  bargain.

         21                 I'd like to also add that every year

         22  we do recertify, we're given the same book about

         23  what we're entitled to through our leases. Every

         24  last thing in here has been breached by the

         25  management. The superintendent that I speak of has
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          2  physically beat a tenant. A 115-pound woman, this

          3  man is 250 pounds. He threatened to kill me and my

          4  children. All documented. He walks behind me in the

          5  streets. We're addressed, the African-American

          6  tenants are addressed as "niggers and negroes," the

          7  Spanish people are addressed as "laca" and "pigs."

          8  All of this has been documented for years.

          9                 We have pitbulls that roam the

         10  hallways as we speak. We have cameras which have

         11  audio and visual, audio is illegal, that follow and

         12  track us every day as we leave.

         13                 That building is an accident waiting

         14  to happen.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I think it already

         16  has happened. And it's unfortunate. And I do hope

         17  that the proper authorities are taking down incident

         18  reports.

         19                 MS. HOWELL: The precinct, the woman

         20  who was beaten, the super waited for the police to

         21  come because she ran after he punched her. He

         22  scatched hisself and said "she hit me first." They

         23  arrested her, and later to find that he lied. Then a

         24  couple of months she got it straightened out, they

         25  arrested him.
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          2                 He took me to the basement with the

          3  key in the elevator because the cameras, the way

          4  they're positioned all in the hallways, he told me

          5  he's going to kill me. When the police got there, I

          6  made a report. The report never surfaced in the

          7  precinct.

          8                 I was escorted back to my apartment

          9  by the cops, he stayed with the police. When I

         10  called for the report, the police said that cop

         11  doesn't even work for this precinct. From that point

         12  I thought I was in the twilight zone.

         13                 I finally found out that the cop

         14  worked at another precinct but he was transferred so

         15  he was back and forth.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Sure.

         17                 MS. HOWELL: So what I did was I went

         18  to the precinct and I made them pull the 911 call,

         19  because I didn't believe that I was totally that

         20  crazy that I didn't go through that.

         21                 They found the 911 report and they

         22  told me you're absolutely right, the report never

         23  made it to the precinct.

         24                 We have gone to CCRB so many times in

         25  reference to the police in the area.
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          2                 I took $65 of my own money to send

          3  receipt letters to every politician, Hillary

          4  Clinton, Charles Rangel, Robert Jackson - you name

          5  it, I sent it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I imagine that

          7  Robert Jackson is your City Council member?

          8                 MS. HOWELL: Yes.

          9                 And we've even traveled to Washington

         10  to HUD. We even sent a 14-page fax to the White

         11  House, and yet we are still fighting at this time. I

         12  take me and my son, that's my youngest, my older one

         13  is in school, and we stay at families and friends'

         14  house because we are in fear of our lives on a daily

         15  basis and nobody does anything, or better yet, they

         16  don't do enough. We need our subsidy, don't get me

         17  wrong. We just want somebody to do something,

         18  because we're supposed to be granted safety and a

         19  decent place to live and we cannot, and we cannot.

         20  So what, they're doing so many illegal and illicit

         21  things there, all we want is a safe place to live.

         22  And other tenants wanted to come, but I only found

         23  out about this meeting on Friday, so they weren't

         24  able to be here.

         25                 They go to, they're going back and
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          2  forth to HP actions to get holes repaired. You're

          3  gone the same way so many times, so how many times

          4  must you go the same way? We ask that HUD step in.

          5                 So, yes, I'm in favor of a

          6  resolution, if you can possibly offer it in some

          7  sort of way.

          8                 I know I'm only one.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: You've represented

         10  your building very well.

         11                 And Ms. Howell, I will speak to

         12  Robert Jackson as my colleague and just ask him if

         13  he can step in to assist you. Considering that I've

         14  met you personally, and hopefully that will result

         15  in some type of alleviation.

         16                 MS. HOWELL: Well, he's made promises,

         17  all of them, but it's like they can do but so much.

         18  I'm sure there's so much that you can do. It's like

         19  the police. They told me they went to the super's

         20  house and he's a cleancut and dapper guy, and he's

         21  all but told me, the cops there, they've all but

         22  told me they've had lunch and dinner with the man.

         23  When the New York City Police Department killed my

         24  aunt last year, Alberta Spruill, I was on every news

         25  channel that there was. From that point everybody
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          2  started running and rushing to my aid, but then the

          3  point is we still have this man there. All we want

          4  is the management removed and we want that super

          5  gone and we want the building cleaned up back to

          6  where it was before. It wasn't the greatest of

          7  great, but we never had to experience what we're

          8  going through now, and it's unfortunate.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: It certainly is,

         10  and I appreciate your testimony here today.

         11                 MS. HOWELL: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I'm sorry that you

         13  had to be disheartened.

         14                 MS. HOWELL: I apologize for getting

         15  emotional because --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: It's within your

         17  right.

         18                 MS. HOWELL: It's a shame that when

         19  people come to your door you have to open your door

         20  with a camcorder because of the harassment.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Yes.

         22                 MS. HOWELL: This man brings people to

         23  your door. They bang your door without appointments.

         24  It's horrible. It's horrible. And I can verify more

         25  than -- I could fill this whole table up with a
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          2  paper trail, I brought half of them with me. And the

          3  video proof that I can submit to this place and any

          4  other place I go to is horrific.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Are you working

          6  with a tenant organization?

          7                 MS. HOWELL: Tenants and Neighbors are

          8  the only ones that have stood by us.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Stay close.

         10                 MS. HOWELL: For the last couple of

         11  years.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Stay very close.

         14                 MS. HOWELL: I will. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I'm sorry, Ms.

         16  Howell. I just want to move on to Ms. Thompson, who

         17  has been very patient.

         18                 Thank you, Ms. Thompson.

         19                 Mr. Sahlt, let me Thompson testify

         20  and let's be courteous as well.

         21                 MS. THOMPSON: Hi. My name is Samathia

         22  Thompson. I'm from Morningside Heights

         23  Multi-Cultural Organization, and I didn't prepare

         24  testimony because I had just had a short notice the

         25  other day to come here, and I come because I
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          2  represent my tenants in my establishment, and I'm a

          3  liaison to the management. Through the years we've

          4  been such a turmoil, a lot of my tenants fear coming

          5  out in the opening to speak, because they fear being

          6  intimidated by the new management that we have.

          7                 We took our fight, with management in

          8  our building, been in the organization for quite

          9  some years now. I've lived at 410 Cathedral Parkway

         10  for 24 years it will be. And it was turned over to a

         11  new management company in the Year 2000, 2001,

         12  Nelson Management. And in this interim of time our

         13  building was failing, and when they supposed to do

         14  the REACT report, they are supposed to contact the

         15  tenant to let us know, we are a legal board so that

         16  we could see, what the complicity would be, what was

         17  the level, and they never informed us.

         18                 Through help with Tenant and

         19  Neighbors at the time, it was one of the members

         20  named Yolan. She found out about the new management

         21  taking over and what they was complying and trying

         22  to do, she helped us, she reiterated (sic) and then

         23  all of a sudden they went Mark-Up-To-Market because

         24  they was going to opt out.

         25                 At that time, if the management was
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          2  going to opt out or the owners, they could not have,

          3  they was below the level when we found out. When I

          4  went to Washington, D.C. and spoke to Mr. Bill

          5  Spearson (phonetic), one of the head of the HUD, and

          6  another gentleman, Mr. Phills (phonetic), he said

          7  I'm going to tell you right now, you will be

          8  intimidated because you are targeting certain

          9  people. He said it happens in life. But you contact

         10  anyone, if anyone bothers you. Yes, I speak out, I'm

         11  radical because it's not fair what's being done.

         12  Right now our contract is going to run out. Our

         13  contract runs out as of February -- I mean, March of

         14  2006. Now they're going to come in with brand new

         15  leases that HUD mandated them to give us. But

         16  they're saying it was a suggestion. Thirteen,

         17  fourteen pages, this management got 22 pages.

         18                 You're not only signing a new lease

         19  or an agreement, you're signing an affidavit and

         20  documents.

         21                 And if you refuse to sign it, they

         22  want to put you out. Instead of HUD sticking up and

         23  taking up for us, I went to a meeting, I spoke to

         24  Ms. Rochelle Prince (phonetic) which turned us over

         25  to Quadell. When I asked the Quadell man was you in

                                                            145

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON PUBLIC HOUSING

          2  charge of us, he said no. Later on I get a phone

          3  call from a Mr. Alex Tapodeller (phonetic), talk

          4  about my boss said you was at a meeting making noise

          5  about us. I said, excuse me, are you threatening me?

          6  He said I just want to know what's the problem. What

          7  are you making noise about? I said, I don't make

          8  noise, I speak out. How dare you call my house and

          9  talk to me like that? Later on I find out he gets

         10  fired because I called and complained. Now I speak

         11  to another lady now. I know my time is running out,

         12  but we're running out, because Nelson Management,

         13  he's a developer, he came in as the management, but

         14  his brother was one of the new owners, brought into

         15  this organization. Next thing you know he's managing

         16  the place. Okay to get big loans, but if you're

         17  doing a rehab to MCI, for major capital improvement,

         18  what did you do to improve? Meantime you're down

         19  rating the urbanites, us. We went down to only 40

         20  black families left in the complex. Which I'm not

         21  prejudice because we have Hispanic, my Vice

         22  President is sitting right in the back, her name is

         23  Miss Gladys, she's Hispanic. We have 138 units.

         24  They're demising us, they're liquidating us. And

         25  they're using it, they want everybody to sign this
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          2  new lease, because upon signing this new lease,

          3  anyone who might have someone in your family that

          4  might have had a criminal record, if you have bad

          5  credit, if any of these things under that guise, you

          6  do not qualify. So when they opt-out, there will be

          7  no enhanced vouchers, because something about

          8  they're just not going to qualify you. But we

          9  started out as Section 8, and they turned it over to

         10  HUD, project-based HUD in '92, with everybody, the

         11  tenants didn't even know what they were signing

         12  then. So, from then on we're living in the blind in

         13  a guise. And me by speaking out, I'm the radical

         14  person, because now I've spoken with all of your --

         15  they're going to try to find some reason to put me

         16  out now because the man doesn't like his name

         17  called, and I done called it out in public and I'm

         18  going to have a problem. The only thing, I weight

         19  300 pounds, so they say, oh, it's crazy.

         20                 But this is not supposed to be a

         21  valid thing, it's a thing with our seniors have a

         22  right to live here, everybody lives in fear. My Vice

         23  President to the building, because she speaks

         24  Hispanic, she's sitting right there and she's is

         25  coming up here because they're going to get her, and
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          2  she knows the owner, the real owner. But something

          3  that y'all can do for us, I was happy when I saw Mr.

          4  Perkins because he knows our problem, and Ms. Lopez.

          5  My hubby and his family "oh, let's tell them what's

          6  going on." We want to know, what can you do for us

          7  as a forum? I'll agree with anything you want to

          8  agree with, just don't let them bother us. Give us a

          9  chance.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I can tell you

         11  this much. If any retaliation is taken after this

         12  hearing, you have to let us know.

         13                 MS. THOMPSON: Oh, most definitely.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I can't physically

         15  say what actions will be taken, but I can be certain

         16  that action will come their way. You shouldn't bear

         17  the grunt of any retaliation, no matter what the

         18  issue is.

         19                 MS. THOMPSON: We've had, was it with

         20  Virginia Fields' Office, and Tenant and Neighbors,

         21  they've been supportive to us. I want to Washington

         22  and several places, but Hispanic seniors in the

         23  building, we have so many, they are living in fear.

         24  They fear this management lady that they put as

         25  occupancy manager. She has caused someone to go to
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          2  the hospital. They had a heart attack. Blood

          3  pressure. The lady, she's scared -- she has them so

          4  intimidated they say, "no, we can't speak. They're

          5  going to put us out. They're going to put us in

          6  senior homes." This is not fair. We lived here, we

          7  made this complex.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I agree.

          9                 MS. THOMPSON: We on cameras

         10  everywhere you go. Somebody has to investigate this.

         11  We want to know why we're being treated like this in

         12  a prime neighborhood.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Well, I appreciate

         14  your words, your testimony.

         15                 MS. THOMPSON: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Mr. Sahlt, you had

         17  raised your hand to indicate you wanted to say one

         18  last item. Speak into the mic.

         19                 MR. SAHLT: Two.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Just one.

         21                 MR. SAHLT: Does Fannie and Freddie

         22  get into buying foreclosures? Does Fannie and

         23  Freddie get involved in buying foreclosures? Or they

         24  show no interest?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I'm sorry, Fannie
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          2  and Freddie, you mean --

          3                 MR. SAHLT: Fannie and Freddie Mac.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Okay.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That mortgage

          6  system is a federally financed mortgage system, and

          7  if you have a foreclosure, those are high-risk

          8  mortgages. They are not going to be qualifying under

          9  those two.

         10                 MR. SAHLT: They have low stuff for

         11  higher rates. They have a lot of low stuff.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Can you use the

         13  mic? I don't hear you.

         14                 MR. SAHLT: They have special low

         15  rates for high risk for bad credit. They do. It

         16  isn't on their basic sheets. It's on other sheets.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: What you're

         18  talking about is individuals. What we're talking

         19  about here is particular buildings that have been on

         20  the HUD regulations. If you're going to have a

         21  foreclosure, you are not going to go to the same

         22  resources that the government have in order to

         23  finance something that is going down.

         24                 You understand what I'm saying?

         25                 MR. SAHLT: Yes, I do. I mean to buy
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          2  it at a -- to get the foreclosure, to get the deal

          3  off the hook by offering certain amount of dollars

          4  that no one else can match.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, I

          6  misunderstood what he was saying. Now I understand.

          7  I don't know to that.

          8                 But one thing I want to indicate to

          9  all of you is regulations, very clear regulations

         10  from HUD, from the City, from landlords and tenant

         11  regulations in the City where tenants are now being

         12  harassed, and if this is happening to you, your

         13  Council members need to know this is happening in

         14  this building.

         15                 If they know, if they know about it,

         16  then I will say to you that we need to reach out to

         17  lawyers at this moment. And I personally will talk

         18  to the Council members in question that represent

         19  both of you. I would talk to them and I would let

         20  them know what's happening with you in those

         21  buildings from my side. Beside that, I think that

         22  you need to get in contact with a lawyer

         23  organization and I am more than glad to help with

         24  that, in case you cannot get nowhere.

         25                 But we need to give the benefit to
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          2  the Council members of the area, to proceed, because

          3  perhaps they don't know, and you think they know.

          4                 MS. THOMPSON: The Assemblyman

          5  Daniels, Donald?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Daniel Donnel.

          7                 MS. THOMPSON: I went right to his

          8  office, his sent his lawyer secretary out. She came

          9  to our last meeting with the management, when they

         10  were mandating the new HUD lease to be signed.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

         12                 MS. THOMPSON: She sat in the

         13  audience, they didn't know who she was. She stood up

         14  and spoke, how dare you tell these people they have

         15  to sign that. Robert Nelson, our management, told

         16  her this is what I said, this is how it goes, and I

         17  will not discuss it no further. And she looked and

         18  she said, well, who are you? When she identified

         19  herself, a gentleman from Tenant and Neighbors, Dan,

         20  he was sitting there too. He saw how adamant this

         21  man was about the surveillance. All the questions we

         22  were putting forward to him, he just brushed them

         23  off. He didn't want to have nothing to say. He said

         24  this is his word, his final and that's it. Even with

         25  a HUD member there, with a HUD man --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: HUD was there?

          3                 MS. THOMPSON: Yes, Tenant and

          4  Neighbors and their office. He stood up and spoke.

          5  This man said adamantly what he was going to do, and

          6  they didn't say nothing. And we had been there with

          7  Rochelle Prince, when we said where is the owner? We

          8  said we request the owner, he said I'm the one

          9  mandated to be in charge, and that's my final word.

         10  They let them do what they want to do. They putting

         11  our people out left and right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Well, just give

         13  us the opportunity to talk to the Council members in

         14  regard to this particular problem.

         15                 MS. HOWELL: I don't live in her

         16  building, but we had a meeting, HUD, the 30th

         17  Precinct, Charles Rengal, there was somebody else

         18  there --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Robert Jackson?

         20                 MS. HOWELL: Robert Jackson's office,

         21  they were there. In the meeting the management did

         22  finally show up. The super, who is causing most of

         23  the distress alongside the management, did all the

         24  talking; whereas the police people, the community

         25  affairs unit said, if you're the management, why are
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          2  you doing the talking?

          3                 This man said everything he wanted to

          4  say and do in the meeting, and that meeting took

          5  place in 2001.

          6                 As far as our Council members, we

          7  have a paper trail since 1999, and this man is still

          8  there harassing people. These people are so afraid

          9  to come out of their homes.

         10                 I come up my home and saw them, I

         11  keep going, and I don't come back for weeks at a

         12  time. And our Council members know, they were there

         13  present, and when these people talk back to them,

         14  Robert Jackson, his constituent Martin Smith was

         15  there, the superintendent talked to him as if he was

         16  nobody. Community Affairs Assistant Ella Gladt --

         17  excuse me. Ella, I forgot her name. She's in the

         18  Community Affairs Unit, Ella something, he told her

         19  as far as the meetings go you can't have your

         20  meeting here, and it's up to me -- the

         21  superintendent, you can't have your meetings here,

         22  it's up to me to allow you to have the meetings

         23  here.

         24                 She said, well, then we'll have our

         25  meetings in the hallway. He said, and I'll call the
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          2  police. She said, what is wrong with them? Did I not

          3  identify myself as a cop? And they will come and

          4  they will turn around and leave. Detective Ella

          5  Page, that's her name. That's when I say everything

          6  in this paper and everything in our least have been

          7  breached. And he pulled me aside one day to tell me

          8  about his camera being stolen. People would walk in

          9  the building, he would meet them and ask them where

         10  they're going. It's none of his business. And when

         11  the cameras were stolen, he told me, I know you had

         12  something to do with it. I said, well, then prove

         13  it. I said as a matter of fact, go get your police

         14  report and bring the cops to my door and I'll tell

         15  them exactly how much I know about it, and I'll tell

         16  them just what I know and I'll tell you. I do know

         17  about the cameras. The people that did take the

         18  cameras were tired of him walking up on them and

         19  telling them their conversations in the hallways.

         20  They were having private conversations, he'd walk up

         21  and address them, and accost them. The cameras have

         22  microphones and they're illegal.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay. I would

         24  like to talk to the Council members, and I know that

         25  the Chair of the Committee also, in order to figure
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          2  out what to do here, okay? Thank you.

          3                 MS. THOMPSON: Thank you so much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you.

          5                 I'd like to call Joyce Oates, and

          6  Mitchell Britton.

          7                 Good afternoon, I'm sorry.

          8                 MS. OATES: Good afternoon. Please

          9  excuse me because I am quite hoarse, and I apologize

         10  for not having a testimony, because my president

         11  head was supposed to be here but due to physical

         12  conditions, she could not make it down. So I just

         13  wanted to give a short, brief testimony on what is

         14  happening at the Diego Beekman Houses.

         15                 I don't know if you've heard of the

         16  Diego Beekman Houses.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: State the address.

         18                 MS. OATES: Okay, the address is, we

         19  have 38 buildings.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: And your name.

         21                 MS. OATES: Oh, sorry. My name is

         22  Joyce Oates, and I am a resident there for 19 years.

         23  The Diego Beekman Houses is located in the South

         24  Bronx. We have 1,258 units, 38 buildings, and over

         25  5,000 plus tenants there.
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          2                 Recently we have been -- it has come

          3  to our attention that there are agencies and brokers

          4  calling who want to know what building is up for

          5  sale. So, we are wondering, we know that our

          6  contract does not expire until I think it's around

          7  2007, and we know that there are many, from hearing

          8  different things that HUD has come in and just

          9  snatched the contract of different developments, and

         10  I do believe that we are probably in that distressed

         11  mode.

         12                 The reason why I am here is because

         13  I'm really concerned about the tenants there. We

         14  have quite a few senior citizens, we have a lot of

         15  one-single parent families, and I think it's like an

         16  85 percent fixed income. Recently we did get the

         17  news that they are getting ready to open up and

         18  build three shelters right there in the community.

         19  It's very unacceptable and we're getting ready to

         20  fight against that.

         21                 The tenants there are really

         22  concerned because what they want to know is, is HUD

         23  getting ready to pull out their contract from us,

         24  what are we going to do? Are they building the

         25  shelters for us or what is going on?
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          2                 This is why I am here. Another reason

          3  why I am here, too, is because, speaking of

          4  foreclosure that it could be possible. Six, eight

          5  years ago HUD did take over, HUD bought a

          6  contracting company, Arco, because the building

          7  really had been, they had went down to the worst,

          8  from good to bad to worst, so Arco came in and made

          9  it liveable. Now, one year ago we do have a new

         10  managing company, and this is a long story there,

         11  that there's a lot of history there at Diego Beekman

         12  Houses because we were told that we would be the

         13  model for the country, you know, if things would go

         14  the way that we had planned for it to go, and so

         15  far, yes, we did not lose our apartment.

         16                 But my main concern is that we wants

         17  (sic) to know is, what is HUD doing? Is HUD going to

         18  get ready to pull out from the Diego Beekman Houses?

         19  Or we will be able to stay there and the contract

         20  hopefully will be renewed in the Year 2007.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you, Ms.

         23  Oates.

         24                 MS. OATES: Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Ms. Oates, just as
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          2  a representative of your development, they're

          3  clearly a community in there, are you as a tenant

          4  association working with a local organization by the

          5  name of UHAB or Tenants and Neighbors, or an entity

          6  that as you can see is building a coalition of the

          7  same type of building such as your own?

          8                 MS. OATES: Not at this point.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I recommend, and I

         10  don't -- can you speak to her? See that gentleman

         11  over there? Raise your hand. That's who I want you

         12  to speak to so that you can connect. Because the

         13  time is now to begin organizing. You can't wait til

         14  2007, okay?

         15                 MS. OATES: All right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: All right.

         17                 MS. OATES: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Mr. Britton.

         19                 MR. BRITTON: Good afternoon. And

         20  thank you for the opportunity to testify before the

         21  Public Housing Subcommittee.

         22                 I'm Mitchell Britton. I'm president

         23  of the Parkview Tenants Association, and it's

         24  located in East Flatbush.

         25                 Our project-based Section 8

                                                            159

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON PUBLIC HOUSING

          2  development is composed of seven buildings and is

          3  home to 147 families. Our buildings are both

          4  affordable and in good condition, but since December

          5  our community at Parkview Apartments has been in

          6  jeopardy.

          7                 The tenants learned that there was a

          8  proposed sale of the building to a landlord who did

          9  not want to stay in the Section 8 program, and had

         10  numerous violations with the City.

         11                 We only learned by chance because a

         12  non-profit currently owns one percent of the

         13  development, the New York State Attorney General's

         14  Office notified South Brooklyn Legal Services.

         15                 This was the only reason the

         16  residents learned of this proposed sale. Otherwise,

         17  HUD would have never notified us that our homes

         18  might be sold. Only because of the one percent

         19  chance have we, the tenants, been able to organize

         20  to save our homes and to preserve our quality homes.

         21                 With tenants support, we researched

         22  the proposed buyer. We found that he owes the City

         23  of New York $60,000 to the emergency repair unit and

         24  possibly unpaid property taxes. All of these

         25  buildings, all of his buildings have serious
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          2  violations, including one nine-unit apartment

          3  building with 420 violations, 93 of which are Class

          4  C, the most serious.

          5                 After reaching out to our elected

          6  officials, HUD agreed to inspect the potential

          7  buyers' buildings. For that we thank them. Horrified

          8  at what they saw, combined with community pressure,

          9  HUD withdrew its initial approval of the sale, which

         10  HUD had already granted.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Can you repeat

         12  that? That last sentence.

         13                 MR. BRITTON: HUD withdrew its initial

         14  approval of the sale, which it had already granted.

         15                 Our future, however, is still

         16  unclear. HUD says it is still reviewing internally

         17  whether it has the legal right to reject the sale.

         18  We believe they do, since they have the power to

         19  approve a sale, they should also have a right of the

         20  power to disapprove a sale.

         21                 The tenants are extremely anxious.

         22  They are concerned about the future of their homes.

         23  We do not understand why HUD would consider allowing

         24  a landlord with so many unresolved violations to

         25  acquire a property of our size.
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          2                 To our stress also, we received an

          3  opt-out notice in January saying that our

          4  project-based Section 8 contract will expire in

          5  2005. We are hoping for the best outcome, and are

          6  proud of what we have been able to accomplish so

          7  far. But our future is far from certain.

          8                 We are concerned about our

          9  project-based tenants who have never known a pending

         10  sale, and have the opportunity to write to save

         11  their homes. We hope that the City Council will act

         12  to provide residents with more tools so that they

         13  can save their homes and keep affordable housing

         14  affordable. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Britton.

         17                 I think you touched base on a very

         18  important precedence that we perhaps can cite for

         19  May 25th. The fact that you just said HUD withdrew

         20  their interest in moving forward with your building

         21  being foreclosed for auction.

         22                 MR. BRITTON: It wasn't for auction,

         23  it was a sale to a buyer who had numerous violations

         24  with the City.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I see. I see. So,
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          2  the proceedings to fulfill that sale to that

          3  individual --

          4                 MR. BRITTON: Was postponed. At

          5  present it's postponed.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: I see.

          7                 Council Member Lopez.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: What was the

          9  reason that they did that; do you know? Did they

         10  give an explanation?

         11                 MR. BRITTON: Well, through the help

         12  of Tenants and Neighbors, and our elected officials,

         13  we were able to get HUD to come out and inspect one

         14  of his -- quite a few of his properties, and I think

         15  in one building, a 9-metered apartment building, he

         16  had like 420 violations in it. Other buildings,

         17  although he was putting money into the lobby, if you

         18  go up into the apartments, it was like

         19  mold-infested.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, then it

         21  was organizing and political pressure that make HUD

         22  understand that this was a hot potato?

         23                 MR. BRITTON: Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: In addition to

         25  that, to see with their own eyes exactly who they
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          2  were going to be selling as a pressure point.

          3                 MR. BRITTON: I think so, yes.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: They would have

          5  embarrassed themselves.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But that meant,

          7  what you said then, I have to assume what you said,

          8  that when they go to proceed with this sale, they

          9  don't check on the person who is buying.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Exactly.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Because if they

         12  do, they would not engage in the process of selling

         13  to this person to begin with.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Exactly.

         15                 Okay, Mr. Britton, can you state your

         16  address for the record?

         17                 MR. BRITTON: My name is Mitchell

         18  Britton. I live at 5 St. Paul's Place, Brooklyn, New

         19  York.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you very

         21  much. And I apologize for not pronouncing your name

         22  correctly.

         23                 MR. BRITTON: That's okay.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON REYNA: Thank you so much.

         25  I believe we've concluded this hearing. I want to
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          2  thank everyone for their patience and their

          3  continued dialogue and participation in this

          4  hearing. May 25th will be the second part of this

          5  particular hearing. Thank you.

          6                 (The following written testimony was

          7  read into the record.)

          8

          9

         10  Written Testimony Of:

         11  Paula Wolff

         12  Center for Independence of the Disabled, NY

         13

         14                 NYC Council Hearing, May 3, 2004

         15  Testimony on Behalf of Resolution Number 289

         16                 My name is Paula Wolff. I am a Direct

         17  Services Supervisor at the Center for Independence

         18  of the Disabled in New York (or CIDNY). As a direct

         19  services provider and advocate for people with all

         20  types of disabilities, CIDNY sees firsthand how

         21  tremendous the need for affordable, accessible

         22  housing is throughout New York City. Therefore, we

         23  are concerned about the enormously detrimental

         24  impact that ongoing opt-outs and buy-outs -- leading

         25  to reductions in the city's affordable housing stock
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          2  -- have on those we serve.

          3                 CIDNY receives over 200 calls each

          4  month from persons with disabilities seeking

          5  assistance in identifying accessible, affordable

          6  housing and with maintaining housing - as well as

          7  countless requests for housing information from

          8  other service providers to the disabled.

          9                 The majority of those served are

         10  individuals living on Supplemental Security Income

         11  (SSI) or Social Security Disability (SSD). With

         12  monthly SSI income for a single person totaling only

         13  $651 per month and similar incomes for many living

         14  on SSD, our consumers depend on Project-based

         15  Section 8 Programs administered by HUD to enable

         16  them to secure and retain housing.

         17                 While the need for affordable and

         18  accessible housing units remain quite high - for

         19  example, waiting time for existing Project-based

         20  Section 8 housing routinely exceeds 5 years -

         21  availability is clearly well below demand.

         22                 As a result, an unacceptably large

         23  number of low-income persons with disabilities are

         24  forced to remain doubled up with relatives or

         25  friends, often in homes that lack appropriate
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          2  accessibility features, while others are forced in

          3  increasing numbers into the city shelter system or

          4  institutionalized settings such as nursing homes.

          5                 This comes at a time when Olmstead

          6  Decision mandates the right to services in the

          7  community, with many nursing home residents seeking

          8  to return to life in the community, but unable to do

          9  so because of lack of housing options.

         10                 With this in mind, we support New

         11  York City Council Resolution 239, which would

         12  require HUD to create and implement policies that

         13  provide greater transparency about the status of

         14  buildings where Section 8 program participation is

         15  set to expire or which have been labeled

         16  "distressed" by HUD.

         17                 Part of this Resolution asks that

         18  tenants to be informed of potential opt-outs and

         19  buy-outs in a reasonable timeframe, thereby allowing

         20  them an opportunity to play a more proactive role in

         21  preserving their housing. This is especially

         22  important when the need for affordable housing

         23  continues to be so critical for so many New York

         24  City residents.

         25
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          2

          3  Written Testimony Of:

          4  National Housing Trust

          5

          6                 Written Testimony to Subcommittee on

          7  Public Housing of the Council of the City of New

          8  York

          9  May 3, 2004

         10

         11                 The National Housing Trust is a

         12  national nonprofit organization formed to preserve

         13  and improve affordable multifamily homes for low-

         14  and moderate-income use. The Trust saves multifamily

         15  properties at risk of conversion to market rate

         16  housing and resolves the problems of "troubled"

         17  properties that suffer from physical deterioration

         18  and financial and social distress.

         19                 We pursue our mission on behalf of

         20  this housing and the families and seniors who live

         21  there. Over the past 8 years, the Trust and its

         22  affiliates, NHT/Enterprise Preservation Corporation

         23  and NHT Community Development Fund, have saved more

         24  than 15,600 affordable apartments in 41 states,

         25  involving the acquisition and rehabilitation
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          2  financing of over $600 million.

          3                 New York City has a significant

          4  preservation problem According to Trust data (see

          5  enclosed report), 290 project-based Section 8

          6  properties with more than 34,200 units will expire

          7  in New York City before the end of FY 2009. This

          8  housing is a unique resource, housing some of New

          9  York City's most vulnerable families and elderly.

         10  According to HUD, the average income of those

         11  residing in federally-assisted and insured housing

         12  is less than $15,000 on an annual basis.

         13                 Preserving the Stock of

         14  Federally-Assisted Housing Is Crucial.

         15                 The demand for decent, safe,

         16  affordable housing remains high, while the supply of

         17  such housing is shrinking. A recent study by the

         18  National Housing Trust and Center on Budget and

         19  Policy Priorities found that the number of

         20  federally-subsidized units continues to shrink with

         21  the loss of more than 300,000 affordable

         22  project-based units since 1995. Contracts on another

         23  one million units will expire within five years.

         24  According to a December 2001 report by the Center

         25  for Housing Policy, "Housing America's Working
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          2  Families," there are 13.7 million families currently

          3  experiencing critical housing needs, meaning that

          4  they pay more than half of their income for housing

          5  and/or live in a severely inadequate unit.

          6                 Action must be taken now to preserve

          7  and improve affordable rental homes because:

          8                 - Any additional loss of affordable

          9  homes will have an adverse impact on the growing

         10  number of economically disadvantaged households in

         11  this country. According to this year's HUD report

         12  "Waiting in Vain: An Update on America's Rental

         13  Housing Crisis," time on waiting lists is growing,

         14  the number of families on the lists is increasing,

         15  and the lowest income families and seniors have

         16  limited options.

         17                 - The affordable housing stock that

         18  is most susceptible to opting out of long-term

         19  affordability requirements is the housing stock that

         20  is most irreplaceable. Conversion opportunities are

         21  greatest for housing located in strong market areas.

         22  In these areas, the barriers to entry of zoning

         23  restrictions and high land costs are also greatest.

         24  The secret story that the numbers do not tell is

         25  that affordable housing stock is being lost in
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          2  communities in which replacement affordable housing

          3  is not likely to ever be built. In order to compete

          4  for scarce resources, new production is inexorably

          5  driven to areas in which the zoning and cost

          6  barriers to entry are lowest.

          7                 - More than 2,000 project-based

          8  Section 8 units are lost each month to opt-outs, and

          9  conversion to unsubsidized housing. According to the

         10  National Housing Trust, nearly 300,000 such

         11  apartments have been converted to market rate since

         12  1995.

         13                 - According to HUD, minority

         14  households occupy more than half of these

         15  apartments. Hence, these families will

         16  disproportionately shoulder the adverse affects of

         17  additional losses of federally assisted and insured

         18  homes.

         19                 In the 1970s, this nation produced

         20  200,000 units per year affordable to low income

         21  households. Even with the recent tax credit boost,

         22  we currently produce less than half that amount.

         23                 - As noted by the Millennial Housing

         24  Commission, the cost of preservation is less

         25  expensive than new construction. New tax credit
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          2  housing amounts to approximately 80,000 units. The

          3  cost of replacing the 120,000 "lost" units is much

          4  greater than maintaining that stock.

          5                 - Maintaining and renovating existing

          6  housing not only helps existing renters, but also

          7  helps maintain healthy communities.

          8                 Thus, the preservation of existing

          9  affordable housing is a critical goal. There are a

         10  variety of ways to accomplish this important public

         11  policy objective. The advantage of a multifaceted

         12  preservation approach is that the investment can

         13  create a stock of permanently affordable housing.

         14                 Recommendations on Preserving this

         15  Stock.

         16                 The Trust strongly supports HUD's

         17  efforts to preserve and improve affordable housing.

         18  Tools like IRP decoupling, Mark Up to Market and the

         19  Mark-to-Market program have helped save valuable

         20  subsidized housing stock across the country.

         21                 At the same time, we believe that HUD

         22  could provide more detailed data on subsidized

         23  housing loss, potential rent increases attendant to

         24  such loss, and the impact prepayments and opt outs

         25  have on communities.
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          2                 We also believe that HUD should be

          3  more flexible in its use of upfront grants in

          4  property disposition projects in order to work with

          5  the City of New York to save this housing.

          6                 From the mid-1960s to the early

          7  1980s, HUD housing programs allowed the private

          8  sector to produce nearly two-million affordable

          9  housing units located in nearly every nook and

         10  cranny of the nation. Today, much of that stock is

         11  in need of repair and new stewardship. We believe

         12  that encouraging the transfer of these properties to

         13  preservation-minded owners can help bring new

         14  resources to properties to help rehabilitate and

         15  improve this valuable housing stock.

         16                 Many properties in New York City have

         17  already been preserved with the City and State's

         18  help. Many states and localities, including New

         19  York, are devoting their precious resources,

         20  including low income housing tax credits, private

         21  activity bonds, and other state and local resources,

         22  to this end.

         23                 Many jurisdictions are facing the

         24  same problem as the City of New York and have

         25  developed creative responses:
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          2                 - The Trust has found that 42 state

          3  agencies, including New York State Housing Finance

          4  Agency, currently prioritize or set aside

          5  competitive tax credits and private activity bonds

          6  to preserve and improve affordable, subsidized

          7  housing (see attachment.)

          8                 - At least six states, California,

          9  Illinois, Maine, Rhode Island, and Texas, and four

         10  localities, Denver, Colorado, Portland, Oregon, San

         11  Francisco, California, and the District of Columbia,

         12  have extended notification requirements for owners

         13  planning to opt-out of their Section 8 contracts or

         14  prepay their HUD-insured mortgages.

         15                 - Some states and localities have

         16  devoted local taxpayer dollars to the preservation

         17  of federally-assisted multifamily housing, including

         18  Minnesota, Portland, Oregon, and Montgomery County,

         19  Maryland.

         20                 - Many states and localities,

         21  including Iowa, Utah, Washington, Montgomery County,

         22  Maryland, and the District of Columbia, use state or

         23  local housing trust fund dollars to help preserve

         24  this housing.

         25                 - Some localities, including Cook
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          2  County, Illinois, offer tax abatement or reduced tax

          3  assessments for properties retaining affordability.

          4                 We strongly encourage the City of New

          5  York to set aside or prioritize its resources for

          6  the preservation of this stock.

          7                 Conclusion. Thank you for the

          8  opportunity to submit this testimony on the

          9  preservation concerns we all share. Now is an

         10  appropriate time for us to explore how we preserve

         11  good housing stock in decent neighborhoods, housing

         12  that serves as a unique resource to communities.

         13                 We remain concerned about the

         14  public's ability to secure accurate and up-to-date

         15  information on expiring Section 8 buildings and

         16  support Resolution Number 289.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 4:25 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 3rd day of May 2004.
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